Distribution Agreement

In presenting this thesis or dissertation as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for an advanced degree from Emory University, I hereby grant to Emory University and its agents the non-exclusive license to archive, make accessible, and display my thesis or dissertation in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter known, including display on the world wide web. I understand that I may select some access restrictions as part of the online submission of this thesis or dissertation. I retain all ownership rights to the copyright of the thesis or dissertation. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis or dissertation.

Signature: _____

Date: _____

Amy E. Kirby

Immune Response to Experimental Norwalk Virus Infection

By

Amy E. Kirby

Master of Public Health

Epidemiology

Christine Moe, Ph.D.

Faculty Thesis Advisor

Immune Response to Experimental Norwalk Virus Infection

By

Amy E. Kirby

Ph.D., University of Buffalo, SUNY, 2003 B.S.A., University of Georgia, 1997

Faculty Thesis Advisor: Christine Moe, Ph.D.

An abstract of

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of the

Rollins School of Public Health of Emory University

in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Public Health

in Epidemiology

2012

Abstract

Immune Response to Experimental Norwalk Virus Infection

By Amy E. Kirby

In the US, it is estimated that 21 million people are infected with norovirus every year. For the vast majority of these individuals, the infection will cause a mild gastroenteritis lasting 1-2 days. However, more severe outcomes are possible. Despite this very high incidence, the immunological response to norovirus infection, and, more importantly, the markers of a protective response, are poorly characterized. In this study, the immune response of 16 infected and 35 challenged-but-uninfected volunteers was monitored after an experimental challenge with Norwalk virus (GI.1). The dynamics of the humoral response were assessed by measuring the α -Norwalk serum IgG concentration. Similarly, α -Norwalk salivary IgA was used as an indicator of the mucosal response. The humoral, but not the mucosal, response was found to be highly predictive of infection status, with all but one infected volunteer seroconverting. Conversely, whether a given infection was symptomatic was correlated with the general, but not specific mucosal response; volunteers with illness had a higher final total salivary IgA titer than did those without symptoms. The presence of symptoms was not correlated with an α -Norwalk serum IgG response. Pre-existing antibodies, either serum IgG or salivary IgA, were not correlated with infection. Finally, longer periods of viral shedding were correlated with stronger mucosal responses, as measured by total salivary IgA.

Immune Response to Experimental Norwalk Virus Infection

By

Amy E. Kirby

Ph.D., University of Buffalo, SUNY, 2003 B.S.A., University of Georgia, 1997

Faculty Thesis Advisor: Christine Moe, Ph.D.

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of the Rollins School of Public Health of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Public Health

in Epidemiology

2012

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank Christine Moe for giving me the opportunity to pursue this project, as well as her guidance in developing my career in public health. I would also like to thank Bruce Levin and Maureen Powers for supporting my pursuit of my degree while I was working in their laboratories.

Table of Contents

Introduction to Norovirus 1
Norovirus Epidemiology 2
Viral Structure, Biology and Phylogeny4
Norovirus Infection and Susceptibility9
Norovirus Transmission and Environmental Stability12
Immune Response to Norovirus15
Potential Vaccines and Antivirals for Norovirus18
Outstanding Research Questions20
Assay Optimization40
Serum IgG ELISA41
Salivary IgA ELISA43
Immune Response to Experimental Norwalk Virus Infection
Abstract
Introduction51
Materials and Methods52
Results
Discussion59
Public Health Implications and Future Directions74
Public Health Implications75
Future Directions77

List of Tables and Figures

Figure 1. Structure of Norovirus
Figure 2. Norovirus Classification Tree
Figure 3. Comparison of baculovirus- and VEE-produced Norwalk VLPs45
Figure 4. Evaluation of BLOTTO and BSA as blocking agents46
and heat inactivation of serum
Figure 5. Comparison of different VLPs in the salivary IgA ELISA47
Table 1. Characteristics of Volunteers by Infection Status
Table 2. Distribution of Antibody Concentrations by Infection Status
Table 3. Bivariate Analysis for Correlates of Infection
Table 4. Bivariate Analysis for Correlates of Symptomatic Infection
Table 5. Bivariate Analysis for Correlates of Duration of Viral Shedding
Figure 6. Temporal Dynamics of Serum IgG Response to Norwalk Virus 68
Infection
Figure 7. Infection With Norwalk Virus Did Not Induce a Virus 69

specific Salivary IgA Response

Introduction to Norovirus

Norovirus Epidemiology

According to the most recent estimate from CDC, there are approximately 9.4 million cases of foodborne disease every year in the United States (2). While bacterial causes of foodborne illness receive the most attention, both from scientists and the public, viruses are estimated to account for 59% of all foodborne infections. By far the most common cause of viral gastroenteritis is norovirus, accounting for nearly all of the viral gastroenteritis and 58% of all foodborne illness. However, due to the relatively mild nature of the disease, only 0.03% of hospitalizations and less than 0.1% of deaths attributable to foodborne disease are due to norovirus. This estimate predicts over 5 million domesticallyacquired cases of foodborne norovirus every year in the US, however, even this high number is an underestimate of the true burden of norovirus disease. Scallan et al. assumed that only 26% of norovirus infections are domestically-acquired foodborne infections. Thus, the true annual incidence of norovirus infection in the US could be as high as 21 million infections per year. A recent study in Georgia estimated the incidence of norovirus infection in the community to be 6,500 per 100,000 person-years (4), which is consistent with the national annual incidence predicted from Scallan et al.

The prevalence of norovirus globally is not well understood, particularly in developing nations where other infections with greater morbidity and mortality are prevalent. WHO estimated that 2.2 million deaths were attributable to diarrheal disease in 2004, representing 3.7% of total deaths (5). Given that diarrheal disease is generally non-fatal, particularly if it is treated promptly, this

high mortality is indicative of a very high disease burden, of which a substantial fraction is likely due to norovirus. Smaller, regional studies have attempted to answer this question using seroprevalence studies (6-8). All of the studies found very high rates of seropositivity, ranging from 71% in Brazilian children (8) to >95% in southern Africa (7). Interestingly, in all of these studies, the rate of seropositivity increases dramatically after the first year of life, indicating that norovirus exposure occurs during the first five years of life.

Due to the underreporting of norovirus disease and the relatively mild nature of the infection, it is difficult to estimate the economic burden of the disease. However, other estimates can be used to visualize the scale of the problem. Sandler et al. estimated that the total cost of infectious gastroenteritis in the US in 1998 was \$344,600,000 (9), most of which is expected to be due to norovirus. This estimate includes direct medical care costs as well as indirect costs such as lost work hours. For norovirus-specific estimates, a few studies have focused on nosocomial outbreaks, where diagnosis rates and costs are likely to be high. Lopman et al. estimated that nosocomial gastroenteritis outbreaks cost the English National Health Service £115 million (US\$184 million) in a single year, with the losses attributable to both ward closure and lost productivity of staffers (10). Danial et al. employed a similar analysis to determine the cost of norovirus outbreaks in a single community, Edinburgh, Scotland, which has a total of 2300 hospital beds (11). Across two norovirus seasons, nosocomial outbreaks in this community cost the National Health Service £1.2 million (US\$1.9 million). Not surprisingly, the outbreaks had the highest impact in geriatric long-term care, general medicine, and rehabilitative medicine wards.

Encouragingly, Lee et al. used stochastic economic models to show that the costs of these outbreaks can be limited by early detection and implementation of control measures (12).

Norovirus incidence has a distinct seasonality, with cases peaking in the winter months (13-15). As with most seasonal infections, it is not clear what factors drive the seasonality of norovirus infections. Using laboratory data from England and Wales and regression modeling, Lopman et al. found that temperature and relative humidity were correlated with norovirus incidence, with colder, drier conditions being more favorable to infection (16). This model also included a community immunity predictor based on the size of the previous year's norovirus season and the variation in predominant strains from year to The significance of this predictor, along with the relatively short-lived vear. immunity conferred by natural infection (17), suggests that cyclical oscillations in immunity on the community level could be driving the seasonality of the norovirus infection. Conversely, a similar study in Toronto, Canada found that norovirus incidence was correlated with not only temperature and precipitation, but also the average flow through the region's watershed and the water temperature in Lake Ontario (18). This study implicated the longer persistence of virus in a colder, more stagnant watershed as the driving factor in seasonality.

Viral Structure, Biology and Phylogeny

Noroviruses are small, non-enveloped viruses that are the causative agents of acute gastroenteritis (AGE). As with all members of the *Caliciviridae*, noroviruses have a positive-sense, single-stranded, non-segmented RNA genome enclosed within an icosahedral capsid approximately 38 nm in diameter (19-21). The prototypical virus, and the strain for which the genus is named, is the Norwalk virus, which was isolated from an elementary school outbreak in Norwalk, OH in 1968. Prior to molecular identification techniques, these viruses had several designations: small, round, structured viruses (SRSVs), Norwalk agent, Norwalk-like virus, and Snow Mountain virus.

The genome of norovirus is ~7.5 kb and contains three open reading frames (ORFs)(20). ORF1 encodes the non-structural genes: a helicase, a protease and a RNA polymerase (22, 23). These products are initially translated directly from the viral genomic RNA as a polyprotein, and the mature proteins are produced by proteolytic cleavage. ORF2 encodes the major viral capsid protein VP1 (24) and ORF3 encodes a minor structural protein designated VP2 (25). ORF2 and ORF3 are translated from a bicistronic, subgenomic RNA (26), though there is evidence that these ORFs can also be translated directly from the viral genomic RNA (27).

The Norwalk virus capsid was first crystallized in 1999 (28). The

icosahedral capsid consists of 180 monomers of the VP1 capsid protein, which assemble into 90 dimers via their N-terminal S domain (Fig. 1A). These



assemble into 90 dimers via their N-terminal S domain (Fig. 1A). These Figure 1. A) Crystal structure of the Norwalk virus capsid. B.) Ribbon structure of the major capsid protein VP1. C.) Region of VP1 involved in HBGA binding and antigenic variation of strains. Reproduced from (1).

dimers then associate to form a capsid (24). It has been shown that the S domain

is both necessary and sufficient for capsid formation (29), however, the antigenic diversity within the norovirus genus is mostly within the P1 and P2 domains of VP1 (30). These domains are joined to the S domain by a flexible hinge region, which allows the P1 and P2 domains to extend away from the capsid (Fig. 1B).

While both P1 and P2 regions exhibit strain-dependent variation, the P2 domain is much more variable than P1 (30), which is consistent with its location on the most exposed region of VP1 (Fig. 1B). Indeed, the P2 region contains epitopes that are targeted during infection, and changes in this region are correlated with immune escape (30-32).

Much less is known about the role of VP2, the small basic protein encoded by ORF3. Present in only a few copies per capsid, VP2 is not necessary for capsid assembly, though it does increase the stability of VP1 (25). Virus-like particles (VLPs) containing VP1 and VP2 can be produced by expressing ORF2 and ORF3 in mammalian cells, indicating that the inclusion of VP2 in capsids is independent of viral genome packaging. However, it has been suggested that VP2 may have a role in packaging of the viral RNA (33). Since there does not appear to be a point of entry for the viral genome in the assembled VP1 capsid (28), genome packaging is likely to be concurrent with capsid assembly. Due to its basic chemistry and ability to assemble into VP1 capsids, VP2 could interact with the genomic RNA during assembly, and act as a bridge between the VP1 capsid and the genome.

The molecular details of norovirus replication, particularly the role of the non-structural proteins, are limited due to the inability to culture the virus in the laboratory (reviewed in (34)). Direct transfection of cells with the viral genome has resulted in genome replication and the production of RNA-bearing viral particles (35-37). The success of this approach suggests that the failure of in vitro culture systems is due to defects in the early stage of infection: viral binding, cell entry, and/or uncoating of the genome. Studies of virus binding, using either virus isolated from stools or recombinant VLPs, support this hypothesis (38). Using a variety of human and animal cell lines, White et al. demonstrated specific, but very low level, binding of Norwalk VLPs to cultured cells. The only cell line to show substantial binding was differentiated Caco-2 cells, which is consistent with binding studies in duodenal organ explants (39, 40). In that study, the virus was shown to bind to non-epithelial cells, specifically the lamina propria and Brunner's glands. Recently, two 3-dimensional organoid culture systems – one with Caco-2 cells (41) and one with INT-407 human embryonic intestinal epithelial cells (42) - have been reported to support human norovirus infection. While it is clear that a small proportion of the inoculated virus does enter the cells, and replication and transcription of viral RNA is occurring, the systems do not appear to produce infectious virions. Unfortunately, it does not appear that the cultivable, and closely related, murine norovirus will be useful as a model to gain insight into human norovirus replication. Lay et al. found that, unlike murine norovirus, human norovirus does not replicate in macrophages or dendritic cells (43).

Due to the high diversity within the VP1 capsid protein, the sequence of ORF2 is used as the basis for norovirus phylogeny. Based on sequence analysis of 164 norovirus isolates, Zheng et al. proposed a classification scheme that divides viruses into genogroups, which are further divided into genotypes (see Fig. 2) (3).



Figure 2. Norovirus classification tree proposed by Zheng et al. (3)

The majority of human isolates fall norovirus into genogroups I and II, with a small number also falling within genogroup IV. Genogroup III is comprised of non-human isolates, primarily of bovine origin, and genogroup comprised of murine V is

isolates. Within genogroup I, there are 8 genotypes (44). The prototypical Norwalk virus defines genogroup I, genotype 1, which is designated GI.1 according to the standards of the field. Genogroup II is the most frequently isolated group in epidemic settings (45-47) and is comprised of 19 genotypes (44). Among those, the most frequently isolated type is GII.4 (48). Recent evidence suggests that new virus variants have evolved by recombination events at the ORF1/ORF2 overlap, confounding typical classification strategies (49-51).

Although the entirety of ORF2 is considered for strain designation, strain typing is generally completed using sequences from smaller regions within either ORF2 or ORF1 (52-56). The most broadly applicable typing methods utilize reverse-transcriptase polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) followed by sequencing and alignment to known isolates (53, 55, 56). These methods differ mainly in the genomic region targeted for amplification. These regions have been designated A, B, C, D, and E (53). Regions A and B fall in the polymerase region of ORF1, while regions C, D, and E are within ORF2. Because diagnostic methods have moved towards quantitative real-time PCR (qRT-PCR), where the amplicons are not appropriate for sequencing, a complete diagnosis with genotyping requires two separate amplifications: qRT-PCR for quantitation and RT-PCR for genotyping. Newer methods have utilized TaqMan RT-qPCR, which produces amplicons that can be sequenced directly (54, 57).

Norovirus Infection and Susceptibility

Typically, norovirus infection causes a relatively mild episode of acute gastroenteritis (AGE), colloquially known as "winter vomiting disease" or the "stomach flu". After a short incubation period (24-48 hours), the disease is characterized by a very abrupt onset of diarrhea and/or vomiting. Nausea and stomach cramping often accompany these symptoms. Fever, headache and coughing are rare. The symptoms typically resolve without intervention after 24 hours (58). In rare cases, the severity of the diarrhea or vomiting requires hospitalization due to dehydration, and it is this dehydration that is responsible for the few fatalities associated with norovirus. Other than oral rehydration therapy for dehydration and anti-emetics for nausea, there is no specific treatment for norovirus.

Norovirus infection can result in other, less common clinical presentations. Individuals with severely compromised immune systems can become chronically infected with symptoms and viral shedding persisting for months (59-62). There is evidence implicating these long-term shedders as a source of hospital outbreaks of AGE (61). Additionally, human challenge studies suggest that roughly 30% of infections are asymptomatic (63, 64) and crosssectional studies estimate the prevalence of asymptomatic infection in the community to be around 12% (65, 66). Recently, necrotizing enterocolitis in infants, a very severe disease requiring emergency surgical intervention, has been associated with the presence of norovirus RNA in the stool (67, 68), but it is unclear whether norovirus infection is involved in the pathogenesis of the disease.

Diagnosis of norovirus infection, when it occurs, is generally a diagnosis by exclusion of bacterial causes. Since the virus cannot be cultured in vitro, diagnostics depend on detection of the virus in the stool or virus-specific antibodies in the sera or saliva. Initially, norovirus particles were detected in stool samples by direct visualization by electron microscopy (69). This method of diagnosis was expensive, time-consuming, and neither sensitive nor specific. The sensitivity and specificity of detection was greatly improved by the development of RT-PCR, which detects the viral RNA (70-72). Even more sensitive is quantitative real-time PCR (qRT-PCR), which can determine the number of viral genomes in a sample (54, 73-75). Viral load in the stool can also be estimated using an antigen capture ELISA, (76), which is the basis for an immunochromatographic dipstick test for infection (77). The presence of high levels of anti-norovirus antibodies, particularly IgM but also IgG, in sera can also be used to diagnose infections using ELISA-based techniques (78, 79). However, developing broadly reactive ELISAs is difficult due to the strain-specific nature of the immune response, which limits their utility in general diagnosis of norovirus disease. RT-PCR assays can be either strain-specific or broadly reactive based on the primers used.

Susceptibility to norovirus infection is strongly influenced by host factors. chronic infections previously discussed, are associated with As immunocompromised individuals, such as transplant recipients (60) and leukemia patients (59). In addition to the role of immune status, susceptibility to norovirus is correlated with blood type and histo-blood group antigens (HBGAs). Initial studies showed that individuals with type O blood had the highest odds of infection in an outbreak (64, 80). Further studies found that infection with Norwalk virus was completely dependent on secretor status, with the virus capable of infecting only secretor positive (Se+) individuals (64, 81).

Secretor status is determined by the FUT_2 gene (82). When this gene is functional (i.e. Se+), Lewis antigens are present in saliva and other body fluids and are free to bind to the surface of epithelial cells. When both FUT_2 alleles are non-functional, Lewis antigens are still produced (by the action of the other FUTgenes) but they are no longer secreted into body fluids (i.e. Se-). Individuals who are heterozygous for functional FUT_2 are called partial secretors.

Although it cannot be tested directly due to the lack of a norovirus culture system, Lewis antigens are thought to act as the cellular receptor for norovirus. VLPs (81, 83-85), recombinant VP1 (86, 87), and P particles (88) have been shown to bind to Lewis antigens in Se+ saliva as well as synthetic glycans. The regions of VP1 involved in HBGA binding have been identified (32), and the interaction between the molecules has been mapped by structural studies (89). Additionally, changes in VP1 can be linked to changes in HBGA binding (86, 87, 90), providing a potential explanation for the strain-dependent differences in host susceptibility. Recently, outbreak studies have found that not all noroviruses are restricted to Se+ individuals. Investigations of a GI.3 outbreak in Sweden (91) and a mixed GII.g/GII.12 outbreak in Ohio (92) identified symptomatic, Seindividuals with norovirus RNA in their stool, indicative of active infection. A mixed GII.4 outbreak in the Israeli military was reported to have a secretorindependent attack rate (93), however, there are potential methodological problems with the study (94, 95). Most convincingly, a human challenge study with Snow Mountain virus (GII.2) found that infection status was not correlated with ABO blood type, Lewis type, or secretor status (63).

Norovirus Transmission and Environmental Stability

Transmission of norovirus is primarily via the fecal-oral route (58), with fecal contamination of food and water being the main source of infection. Due to the inactivation of the virus by heat, foods implicated in outbreaks are generally served raw (e.g.- salads, fruits, etc.) or subject to handling prior to consumption (e.g.- sandwiches, sliced breads, etc.). Fomites have also been implicated in transmission during outbreaks (96-101). Evidence from outbreaks suggests that aerosolized virus, particularly in vomitus, could be contagious, making inhalation a possible route of infection (102).

The infectious dose is thought to be between 10 and 100 viral particles (58), though some studies estimate that it could be as low as one (103). Infected individuals shed large concentrations of virus in their stool, with reported numbers as high as 10¹¹ genome equivalents per gram of stool (74, 75, 104). This shedding occurs throughout the symptomatic period and has been documented

to continue for up to 1-5 weeks after the resolution of symptoms (61, 105, 106). In immunocompromised patients with chronic infections, viral shedding can continue for months after the onset of symptoms (13).

In addition to high shedding rates, norovirus is extremely stable in the environment. The best evidence for this environmental stability comes from outbreak investigations implicating fomites in transmission. Transmission of the same strain on consecutive cruises has been documented multiple times, strongly implicating the boat itself as the source (96, 99). Outbreaks have also been linked to contaminated kitchen surfaces (100) and surface contamination in long term care facilities (97). In some cases, the contamination persisted despite documented, appropriate sanitization efforts (99, 100, 107).

This persistence has also been documented in the lab. Seitz et al. found that Norwalk virus in groundwater remained infectious for at least 61 days and the RNA was detectable for over 3 years (108). Consistent with this, Skraber et al. found that norovirus GI and GII can survive for at least 49 days in wastewater at 4°C, but increasing the temperature to 20°C shortened the survival to 25 days (109). The viruses have also been detected in biofilms associated with wastewater, which could serve as a reservoir of the virus (109). Perhaps most importantly, noroviruses can persist on refrigerated ready-to-eat foods for at least 10 days (110).

In addition to general environmental stability, norovirus is highly resistant to many types of disinfectants. Commonly used disinfectants such as quaternary ammonia compounds (111, 112), alcohols (113) and alcohol-based sanitizers (114) are ineffective against norovirus. The only commonly used disinfectant that is effective against norovirus is hypochlorite (i.e. bleach), with 160 ppm reducing the number of genome copies at least 4-fold (113-115). A variety of less common disinfectants and disinfection protocols have been tested. Peroxide- and aldehyde-based disinfectants have been shown to be capable of reducing norovirus genome titers by at least 3 logs, but it requires substantial contact time (60 min) (116). Gas sanitization of rooms is particularly appealing due to the role of fomites in transmission. Unfortunately, gassing a room with ozone (117) or hydrogen peroxide vapors (118) has little effect on norovirus, reducing the detectable genomic copies by only 1 log.

The inability to culture norovirus in the lab greatly complicates the study of viral persistence in the environment and the development of inactivation strategies. In an attempt to overcome this limitation, many researchers have turned to surrogate viruses (for a review, see (119, 120)). Commonly used surrogates for human norovirus include murine norovirus, feline calicivirus, poliovirus, monkey calicivirus (i.e. Tulane virus) and bacteriophage MS2. However, the results of these surrogate studies are very difficult to interpret (119). It is not uncommon for results from one surrogate to conflict with those from another surrogate. Most alarmingly, all of the surrogates have been found to be in disagreement in at least one aspect with results obtained for human norovirus. For example, for several of the studies cited above, norovirus was found to be more resistant to disinfection than the surrogate virus (FCV or MNV) in all conditions tested (113, 116, 117) To avoid this confusion, studies exclusively utilizing viral surrogates will not be considered here.

Immune Response to Norovirus

Although much is known about the immune response to norovirus infection, it is still unclear how the immune response contributes to the disease process, how this response exerts selective pressure on the evolution of the virus, and how the response can be exploited to change the epidemiology of the disease. The current understanding of norovirus immunity is derived from outbreak investigations and human challenge studies. Both of these approaches have strengths and weaknesses. Outbreak investigations provide a realistic view of natural infections in a variety of populations; however, this diversity is also the greatest limitation of outbreak data. Conversely, human challenge studies provide well-controlled data that is relatively easy to interpret, but it is unclear how this data can be extrapolated to the diverse populations and settings outside the laboratory. In this review, outbreak data will be considered first, followed by data from the human challenge studies.

It is clear from outbreak studies that infection with norovirus, whether symptomatic or asymptomatic, results in a strong rise in serum IgG between the acute and convalescent phases (i.e. rise in titer \geq 4-fold, seroconversion) (121-125). Less predictable is seroconversion for IgM (121) and IgA (123, 124). Several studies found that the initial titers of anti-norovirus antibody varied widely across individuals, likely due to previous exposures (123, 125). However, initial antibody titers were not correlated with infection status. The type and quality of this immune response change with age. Children predominantly mount an IgG response, with the likelihood of IgA seroconversion increasing with age (124). The quality of the response, as measured by the avidity of the antibodies produced, also increases with age.

The extent of cross-reactivity of the antibody response is still unclear. Two studies have addressed this question using outbreak data. In the first study, samples from two outbreaks were tested against a panel of VLPs that spanned both genogroups and included the outbreak strain (122). As expected, reactivity was highest against the homologous outbreak VLP. Cross-reactivity was variable, but generally higher across genotypes than across genogroups. A similar study, focused exclusively on outbreaks of GII viruses, found similar variability in crossreactivity to heterologous VLPs (126). However, there was no cross-reactivity in H type 3 blocking antibody, which is consistent with low levels of protection due to cross-reactivity.

As expected for a virus, norovirus infection stimulates a primarily Th1 response. In a cohort of Mexican children, infection led to increases in the fecal cytokines IL-5 and IL-8 (127). Similarly, in adults with traveler's diarrhea, fecal IL-2 and IFN- γ were elevated (128). These cytokine profiles are consistent with a Th1 response, which drives a cellular, as opposed to humoral, immune response.

Human challenge studies have facilitated a more detailed understanding of the immune response to norovirus infection. Consistent with the data from outbreaks, individuals challenged and infected with norovirus seroconvert (IgG) approximately 6 days after exposure (129-131) and most of those also had serum IgM and IgA seroconversions (129). Changes in salivary IgA and IgG titers are correlated with IgG seroconversion, but the rise in titer is not as strong and not all individuals exhibit the 4-fold rise in titer that defines conversion (63, 130). Intriguingly, in a Norwalk challenge study, salivary IgA response was predictive of infection status (131). Volunteers who were not infected had a rise in salivary IgA during the first five days after challenge that was not present in those who became infected. These uninfected volunteers did not, however, have the sharp rise in antibody titer that corresponds with seroconversion.

Challenge studies have been an excellent source of information on the quality of the immune response to norovirus infection. Of particular interest is the level of HBGA blocking antibody (also called HBGA blockade), which is thought to be functionally equivalent to neutralizing antibodies to viruses that can be grown in the lab. Infection with Norwalk virus stimulates rises in the serum concentration of antibodies that can block virus binding to H type 1 and H type 3 polysaccharides, as well as Le^b antigens (83, 132, 133). As with total antibody responses, the strength of the blockade response varies by individual, as does the pre-challenge blockade titer (BT_{50}). Although the prechallenge BT_{50} is strongly correlated with asymptomatic infection (133).

As in the outbreak studies, the cross-reactivity of the immune responses generated in challenge studies is variable. Across genogroups, the level of crossreactivity is moderate and varies considerably between individuals. Infection with Snow Mountain virus (GII) resulted in IgG seroconversion to Norwalk virus (GI) in 40% of volunteers in one study (129) and 0% of volunteers in another study (63). Similarly, infection with Hawaii virus (GII) induced an IgG seroconversion to Norwalk virus in only 13% of volunteers (129). No volunteers had a salivary IgA response that recognized Norwalk virus (63). Conversely, within genogroups, cross-reactivity of both total and blockade antibodies can be relatively high (132, 134).

This variability in cross-reactivity was also seen in the cytokine response of individual volunteers. Peripheral blood mononuclear cells from infected individuals can be stimulated to produce Th1-type cytokines (i.e.-IFN γ , IL-2, and IL-5) by exposure to the challenge virus (63, 132). In some individuals, this response could also be elicited by stimulation with heterologous viruses, even across genogroups.

Potential Vaccines and Antivirals for Norovirus

With the high incidence and large economic impact of norovirus disease, there is much interest in developing specific interventions. Antivirals are historically difficult to develop and, due to the extremely short incubation period and disease duration, they are unlikely to have a significant impact on norovirus transmission. Thus, most of the research and development effort has been directed towards a vaccine. This approach has been very successful for rotavirus, another high impact enteric virus (135).

The most direct approach to a norovirus vaccine is to use VLPs, which contain the major antigen VP1 but cannot replicate and cause disease. Indeed, this is the approach used for the vaccine currently in clinical trials (136). Vaccination with a monovalent (Norwalk only) VLP results in a dose-dependent increase in serum IgG, as well as increases in mucosal IgA (137). Upon challenge with the homologous virus, vaccination reduced the infection rate (82% vs. 61%) and the rate of symptomatic infection (69% vs. 37%) (136). Neither the duration of protection nor the extent of cross-protection are known.

Other approaches have been taken to develop a norovirus vaccine. The VP1 capsid protein can be expressed in transgenic potatoes, producing an edible vaccine (138). The capsid protein can also be expressed in a vesicular stomatitis virus vector system and these recombinant VLPs used as a vaccine (139). Another VLP-based approach inserted an antigenic influenza peptide into the P loop of VP1 and used this chimeric protein to produce P-particles (140). Using these chimeric particles as vaccine antigens protected mice against influenza infection and stimulated the production of HBGA blockade antibodies, supporting the possibility of a dual vaccine.

Although a vaccine is the most likely solution to the burden of norovirus disease, there specific antivirals are also under investigation. A compound that is able to block the binding of the virus to HBGAs should be able to prevent infection. With this goal in mind, Feng et al. developed a high-throughput ELISA for HBGA binding inhibitors and screened a library of synthetic compounds (141). A few potential candidates were identified, but their ability to block infection has not been tested.

Another approach to antiviral development is to block viral replication within the cell. Bok et al. used phosphorodiamidiate morpholino oligomers (PMOs) to prevent translation of the viral genome (142). This approach has been shown to prevent replication of murine norovirus in culture. PMOs specific to human norovirus were shown to block translation of both GI and GII reporter constructs, indicating that this approach could be successful. It is not known whether these oligomers can inhibit human norovirus replication nor what impact this could have on infection.

Outstanding Research Questions

Although there are many research questions to be addressed in the norovirus field, there are two research needs that will significantly advance the field. 1) A method to accurately assess the infectivity of norovirus is needed. This would allow true comparisons of disinfection and neutralizing procedures. A reliable cell infection method would also allow further studies of the viral life cycle and replication. The results of these studies could then be used to develop norovirus-specific therapies. 2) A reliable immune correlate of protection must be identified to further vaccine development. Although human challenge studies are available to test vaccine efficacy, challenge studies are not practical for the large-scale studies necessary to bring a vaccine to market. If the characteristics of a protective immune response can be identified, monitoring of this correlate could predict vaccine efficacy. Understanding the markers of a protective immune response would also allow the identification of susceptible and immune individuals in an outbreak situation. Achieving both of these research goals would give public health officials the tools to reduce the burden of norovirus disease.

Literature Cited

- 1. Choi JM, Hutson AM, Estes MK, et al. Atomic resolution structural characterization of recognition of histo-blood group antigens by Norwalk virus. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 2008;105(27):9175-80.
- 2. Scallan E, Hoekstra RM, Angulo FJ, et al. Foodborne illness acquired in the United States--major pathogens. *Emerg Infect Dis* 2011;17(1):7-15.
- 3. Zheng DP, Ando T, Fankhauser RL, et al. Norovirus classification and proposed strain nomenclature. *Virology* 2006;346(2):312-23.
- 4. Hall AJ, Rosenthal M, Gregoricus N, et al. Incidence of acute gastroenteritis and role of norovirus, Georgia, USA, 2004-2005. *Emerging infectious diseases* 2011;17(8):1381-8.
- Mathers CD, Boerma T, Ma Fat D. Global and regional causes of death. *Br Med Bull* 2009;92:7-32.
- Jing Y, Qian Y, Huo Y, et al. Seroprevalence against Norwalk-like human caliciviruses in beijing, China. *Journal of medical virology* 2000;60(1):97-101.
- 7. Smit TK, Bos P, Peenze I, et al. Seroepidemiological study of genogroup I and II calicivirus infections in South and southern Africa. *Journal of medical virology* 1999;59(2):227-31.
- Talal AH, Moe CL, Lima AA, et al. Seroprevalence and seroincidence of Norwalk-like virus infection among Brazilian infants and children. *Journal of medical virology* 2000;61(1):117-24.

- Sandler RS, Everhart JE, Donowitz M, et al. The burden of selected digestive diseases in the United States. *Gastroenterology* 2002;122(5):1500-11.
- Lopman BA, Reacher MH, Vipond IB, et al. Epidemiology and cost of nosocomial gastroenteritis, Avon, England, 2002-2003. *Emerging infectious diseases* 2004;10(10):1827-34.
- 11. Danial J, Cepeda JA, Cameron F, et al. Epidemiology and costs associated with norovirus outbreaks in NHS Lothian, Scotland 2007-2009. *J Hosp Infect* 2011;79(4):354-8.
- Lee BY, McGlone SM, Bailey RR, et al. Economic impact of outbreaks of norovirus infection in hospitals. *Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol* 2011;32(2):191-3.
- Vega E, Barclay L, Gregoricus N, et al. Novel surveillance network for norovirus gastroenteritis outbreaks, United States. *Emerging infectious diseases* 2011;17(8):1389-95.
- Lopman BA, Hall AJ, Curns AT, et al. Increasing rates of gastroenteritis hospital discharges in US adults and the contribution of norovirus, 1996-2007. *Clin Infect Dis* 2011;52(4):466-74.
- 15. Puustinen L, Blazevic V, Huhti L, et al. Norovirus genotypes in endemic acute gastroenteritis of infants and children in Finland between 1994 and 2007. *Epidemiology and infection* 2012;140(2):268-75.
- 16. Lopman B, Armstrong B, Atchison C, et al. Host, weather and virological factors drive norovirus epidemiology: time-series analysis of laboratory surveillance data in England and Wales. *PLoS One* 2009;4(8):e6671.

- 17. Matsui SM, Greenberg HB. Immunity to calicivirus infection. *The Journal of infectious diseases* 2000;181 Suppl 2:S331-5.
- Greer AL, Drews SJ, Fisman DN. Why "winter" vomiting disease? Seasonality, hydrology, and Norovirus epidemiology in Toronto, Canada. *Ecohealth* 2009;6(2):192-9.
- 19. International Committee on Taxonomy of Viruses., King AMQ, International Union of Microbiological Societies. Virology Division. *Virus taxonomy : classification and nomenclature of viruses : ninth report of the International Committee on Taxonomy of Viruses*. Amsterdam: Elsevier/Academic Press; 2012.
- 20. Jiang X, Wang M, Wang K, et al. Sequence and genomic organization of Norwalk virus. *Virology* 1993;195(1):51-61.
- 21. Donaldson EF, Lindesmith LC, Lobue AD, et al. Viral shape-shifting: norovirus evasion of the human immune system. *Nat Rev Microbiol* 2010;8(3):231-41.
- 22. Belliot G, Sosnovtsev SV, Mitra T, et al. In vitro proteolytic processing of the MD145 norovirus ORF1 nonstructural polyprotein yields stable precursors and products similar to those detected in calicivirus-infected cells. *Journal of virology* 2003;77(20):10957-74.
- 23. Seah EL, Marshall JA, Wright PJ. Open reading frame 1 of the Norwalklike virus Camberwell: completion of sequence and expression in mammalian cells. *Journal of virology* 1999;73(12):10531-5.

- 24. Jiang X, Wang M, Graham DY, et al. Expression, self-assembly, and antigenicity of the Norwalk virus capsid protein. *J Virol* 1992;66(11):6527-32.
- 25. Glass PJ, White LJ, Ball JM, et al. Norwalk virus open reading frame 3 encodes a minor structural protein. *Journal of virology* 2000;74(14):6581-91.
- 26. Neill JD, Mengeling WL. Further characterization of the virus-specific RNAs in feline calicivirus infected cells. *Virus Res* 1988;11(1):59-72.
- 27. McCormick CJ, Salim O, Lambden PR, et al. Translation termination reinitiation between open reading frame 1 (ORF1) and ORF2 enables capsid expression in a bovine norovirus without the need for production of viral subgenomic RNA. *Journal of virology* 2008;82(17):8917-21.
- 28. Prasad BV, Hardy ME, Dokland T, et al. X-ray crystallographic structure of the Norwalk virus capsid. *Science* 1999;286(5438):287-90.
- 29. Bertolotti-Ciarlet A, White LJ, Chen R, et al. Structural requirements for the assembly of Norwalk virus-like particles. *Journal of virology* 2002;76(8):4044-55.
- 30. Allen DJ, Gray JJ, Gallimore CI, et al. Analysis of amino acid variation in the P2 domain of the GII-4 norovirus VP1 protein reveals putative variant-specific epitopes. *PLoS One* 2008;3(1):e1485.
- 31. Lochridge VP, Hardy ME. A single-amino-acid substitution in the P2 domain of VP1 of murine norovirus is sufficient for escape from antibody neutralization. *Journal of virology* 2007;81(22):12316-22.

- 32. Lochridge VP, Jutila KL, Graff JW, et al. Epitopes in the P2 domain of norovirus VP1 recognized by monoclonal antibodies that block cell interactions. *J Gen Virol* 2005;86(Pt 10):2799-806.
- 33. Glass PJ, Zeng CQ, Estes MK. Two nonoverlapping domains on the Norwalk virus open reading frame 3 (ORF3) protein are involved in the formation of the phosphorylated 35K protein and in ORF3-capsid protein interactions. *Journal of virology* 2003;77(6):3569-77.
- 34. Duizer E, Schwab KJ, Neill FH, et al. Laboratory efforts to cultivate noroviruses. *J Gen Virol* 2004;85(Pt 1):79-87.
- 35. Asanaka M, Atmar RL, Ruvolo V, et al. Replication and packaging of Norwalk virus RNA in cultured mammalian cells. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 2005;102(29):10327-32.
- 36. Guix S, Asanaka M, Katayama K, et al. Norwalk virus RNA is infectious in mammalian cells. *Journal of virology* 2007;81(22):12238-48.
- 37. Katayama K, Hansman GS, Oka T, et al. Investigation of norovirus replication in a human cell line. *Arch Virol* 2006;151(7):1291-308.
- 38. White LJ, Ball JM, Hardy ME, et al. Attachment and entry of recombinant Norwalk virus capsids to cultured human and animal cell lines. *Journal of virology* 1996;70(10):6589-97.
- 39. Chan MC, Ho WS, Sung JJ. In vitro whole-virus binding of a norovirus genogroup II genotype 4 strain to cells of the lamina propria and Brunner's glands in the human duodenum. *Journal of virology* 2011;85(16):8427-30.

- 40. Leung WK, Chan PK, Lee NL, et al. Development of an in vitro cell culture model for human noroviruses and its clinical application. *Hong Kong Med J* 2010;16(5 Suppl 4):18-21.
- 41. Straub TM, Bartholomew RA, Valdez CO, et al. Human norovirus infection of caco-2 cells grown as a three-dimensional tissue structure. *J Water Health* 2011;9(2):225-40.
- 42. Straub TM, Honer zu Bentrup K, Orosz-Coghlan P, et al. In vitro cell culture infectivity assay for human noroviruses. *Emerging infectious diseases* 2007;13(3):396-403.
- 43. Lay MK, Atmar RL, Guix S, et al. Norwalk virus does not replicate in human macrophages or dendritic cells derived from the peripheral blood of susceptible humans. *Virology* 2010;406(1):1-11.
- 44. Updated norovirus outbreak management and disease prevention guidelines. *MMWR Recomm Rep* 2011;60(RR-3):1-18.
- 45. McAllister G, Holmes A, Garcia L, et al. Molecular epidemiology of norovirus in Edinburgh healthcare facilities, Scotland 2007-2011. *Epidemiology and infection* 2012:1-9.
- 46. Gomez-Santiago FP, Ribas-Aparicio RMP, Garcia-Lozano HP. Molecular characterization of human calicivirus associated with acute diarrheal disease in mexican children. *Virol J* 2012;9(1):54.
- 47. Abugalia M, Cuevas L, Kirby A, et al. Clinical features and molecular epidemiology of rotavirus and norovirus infections in Libyan children. *Journal of medical virology* 2011;83(10):1849-56.
- 48. Siebenga JJ, Vennema H, Zheng DP, et al. Norovirus illness is a global problem: emergence and spread of norovirus GII.4 variants, 2001-2007. *The Journal of infectious diseases* 2009;200(5):802-12.
- 49. Dey SK, Phan TG, Mizuguchia M, et al. Novel recombinant norovirus in Japan. *Virus Genes* 2010;40(3):362-4.
- 50. Ruether IG, Tsakogiannis D, Pliaka V, et al. Molecular characterization of a new intergenotype Norovirus GII recombinant. *Virus Genes* 2012;44(2):237-43.
- 51. Lam TT, Zhu H, Smith DK, et al. The recombinant origin of emerging human norovirus GII.4/2008: intra-genotypic exchange of the capsid P2 domain. *J Gen Virol* 2012.
- 52. Kroneman A, Vennema H, Deforche K, et al. An automated genotyping tool for enteroviruses and noroviruses. *J Clin Virol* 2011;51(2):121-5.
- 53. Mattison K, Grudeski E, Auk B, et al. Multicenter comparison of two norovirus ORF2-based genotyping protocols. *Journal of clinical microbiology* 2009;47(12):3927-32.
- 54. Schultz AC, Vega E, Dalsgaard A, et al. Development and evaluation of novel one-step TaqMan realtime RT-PCR assays for the detection and direct genotyping of genogroup I and II noroviruses. *J Clin Virol* 2011;50(3):230-4.
- 55. Vinje J, Green J, Lewis DC, et al. Genetic polymorphism across regions of the three open reading frames of "Norwalk-like viruses". *Arch Virol* 2000;145(2):223-41.

- 56. Vinje J, Hamidjaja RA, Sobsey MD. Development and application of a capsid VP1 (region D) based reverse transcription PCR assay for genotyping of genogroup I and II noroviruses. *J Virol Methods* 2004;116(2):109-17.
- 57. Trujillo AA, McCaustland KA, Zheng DP, et al. Use of TaqMan real-time reverse transcription-PCR for rapid detection, quantification, and typing of norovirus. *Journal of clinical microbiology* 2006;44(4):1405-12.
- 58. Heymann DL, American Public Health Association. *Control of communicable diseases manual.* 19th ed. Washington, DC: American Public Health Association; 2008.
- 59. Capizzi T, Makari-Judson G, Steingart R, et al. Chronic diarrhea associated with persistent norovirus excretion in patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia: report of two cases. *BMC Infect Dis* 2011;11:131.
- 60. Saif MA, Bonney DK, Bigger B, et al. Chronic norovirus infection in pediatric hematopoietic stem cell transplant recipients: a cause of prolonged intestinal failure requiring intensive nutritional support. *Pediatr Transplant* 2011;15(5):505-9.
- 61. Sukhrie FH, Siebenga JJ, Beersma MF, et al. Chronic shedders as reservoir for nosocomial transmission of norovirus. *Journal of clinical microbiology* 2010;48(11):4303-5.
- 62. Gallimore CI, Lewis D, Taylor C, et al. Chronic excretion of a norovirus in a child with cartilage hair hypoplasia (CHH). *J Clin Virol* 2004;30(2):196-204.

- 63. Lindesmith L, Moe C, Lependu J, et al. Cellular and humoral immunity following Snow Mountain virus challenge. *Journal of virology* 2005;79(5):2900-9.
- 64. Lindesmith L, Moe C, Marionneau S, et al. Human susceptibility and resistance to Norwalk virus infection. *Nat Med* 2003;9(5):548-53.
- 65. Phillips G, Tam CC, Rodrigues LC, et al. Prevalence and characteristics of asymptomatic norovirus infection in the community in England. *Epidemiology and infection* 2010;138(10):1454-8.
- 66. Ayukekbong J, Lindh M, Nenonen N, et al. Enteric viruses in healthy children in Cameroon: viral load and genotyping of norovirus strains. *Journal of medical virology* 2011;83(12):2135-42.
- 67. Stuart RL, Tan K, Mahar JE, et al. An outbreak of necrotizing enterocolitis associated with norovirus genotype GII.3. *Pediatr Infect Dis J* 2010;29(7):644-7.
- 68. Turcios-Ruiz RM, Axelrod P, St John K, et al. Outbreak of necrotizing enterocolitis caused by norovirus in a neonatal intensive care unit. *J Pediatr* 2008;153(3):339-44.
- 69. Lopman B. Noroviruses: simple detection for complex epidemiology. *Clin Infect Dis* 2006;42(7):970-1.
- 70. Khan AS, Moe CL, Glass RI, et al. Norwalk virus-associated gastroenteritis traced to ice consumption aboard a cruise ship in Hawaii: comparison and application of molecular method-based assays. *Journal of clinical microbiology* 1994;32(2):318-22.

- 71. Moe CL, Gentsch J, Ando T, et al. Application of PCR to detect Norwalk virus in fecal specimens from outbreaks of gastroenteritis. *Journal of clinical microbiology* 1994;32(3):642-8.
- 72. Sair AI, D'Souza DH, Moe CL, et al. Improved detection of human enteric viruses in foods by RT-PCR. *J Virol Methods* 2002;100(1-2):57-69.
- 73. Liu P, Hsiao HM, Jaykus LA, et al. Quantification of Norwalk virus inocula: Comparison of endpoint titration and real-time reverse transcription-PCR methods. *Journal of medical virology* 2010;82(9):1612-6.
- 74. Richards GP, Watson MA, Kingsley DH. A SYBR green, real-time RT-PCR method to detect and quantitate Norwalk virus in stools. *J Virol Methods* 2004;116(1):63-70.
- 75. Pang X, Lee B, Chui L, et al. Evaluation and validation of real-time reverse transcription-pcr assay using the LightCycler system for detection and quantitation of norovirus. *Journal of clinical microbiology* 2004;42(10):4679-85.
- 76. Vipond IB, Pelosi E, Williams J, et al. A diagnostic EIA for detection of the prevalent SRSV strain in United Kingdom outbreaks of gastroenteritis. *Journal of medical virology* 2000;61(1):132-7.
- 77. Takanashi S, Okame M, Shiota T, et al. Development of a rapid immunochromatographic test for noroviruses genogroups I and II. *J Virol Methods* 2008;148(1-2):1-8.

- 78. Graham DY, Jiang X, Tanaka T, et al. Norwalk virus infection of volunteers: new insights based on improved assays. *The Journal of infectious diseases* 1994;170(1):34-43.
- 79. Brinker JP, Blacklow NR, Jiang X, et al. Immunoglobulin M antibody test to detect genogroup II Norwalk-like virus infection. *Journal of clinical microbiology* 1999;37(9):2983-6.
- 80. Hutson AM, Atmar RL, Graham DY, et al. Norwalk virus infection and disease is associated with ABO histo-blood group type. *The Journal of infectious diseases* 2002;185(9):1335-7.
- 81. Marionneau S, Airaud F, Bovin NV, et al. Influence of the combined ABO, FUT2, and FUT3 polymorphism on susceptibility to Norwalk virus attachment. *The Journal of infectious diseases* 2005;192(6):1071-7.
- Soejima M, Koda Y. Molecular mechanisms of Lewis antigen expression.
 Leg Med (Tokyo) 2005;7(4):266-9.
- 83. Harrington PR, Lindesmith L, Yount B, et al. Binding of Norwalk virus-like particles to ABH histo-blood group antigens is blocked by antisera from infected human volunteers or experimentally vaccinated mice. *Journal of virology* 2002;76(23):12335-43.
- 84. Harrington PR, Vinje J, Moe CL, et al. Norovirus capture with histo-blood group antigens reveals novel virus-ligand interactions. *Journal of virology* 2004;78(6):3035-45.
- 85. Lindesmith LC, Donaldson EF, Lobue AD, et al. Mechanisms of GII.4 norovirus persistence in human populations. *PLoS Med* 2008;5(2):e31.

- 86. Chen Y, Tan M, Xia M, et al. Crystallography of a Lewis-binding norovirus, elucidation of strain-specificity to the polymorphic human histo-blood group antigens. *PLoS Pathog* 2011;7(7):e1002152.
- 87. Tan M, Xia M, Cao S, et al. Elucidation of strain-specific interaction of a GII-4 norovirus with HBGA receptors by site-directed mutagenesis study. *Virology* 2008;379(2):324-34.
- 88. Tan M, Fang P, Chachiyo T, et al. Noroviral P particle: structure, function and applications in virus-host interaction. *Virology* 2008;382(1):115-23.
- 89. Cao S, Lou Z, Tan M, et al. Structural basis for the recognition of blood group trisaccharides by norovirus. *Journal of virology* 2007;81(11):5949-57.
- 90. Hansman GS, Biertumpfel C, Georgiev I, et al. Crystal structures of GII.10 and GII.12 norovirus protruding domains in complex with histo-blood group antigens reveal details for a potential site of vulnerability. *Journal of virology* 2011;85(13):6687-701.
- 91. Nordgren J, Kindberg E, Lindgren PE, et al. Norovirus gastroenteritis outbreak with a secretor-independent susceptibility pattern, Sweden. *Emerging infectious diseases* 2010;16(1):81-7.
- 92. Takanashi S, Wang Q, Chen N, et al. Characterization of emerging GII.g/GII.12 noroviruses from a gastroenteritis outbreak in the United States in 2010. *Journal of clinical microbiology* 2011;49(9):3234-44.
- 93. Halperin T, Vennema H, Koopmans M, et al. No association between histo-blood group antigens and susceptibility to clinical infections with

genogroup II norovirus. *The Journal of infectious diseases* 2008;197(1):63-5.

- 94. Chan MC, Wong YP, Sung JJ, et al. Histo-blood group antigens and susceptibility to infection with norovirus genogroup II genotype 4. *The Journal of infectious diseases* 2008;198(6):940; author reply 2-3.
- 95. Tan M, Jiang X. Association of histo-blood group antigens with susceptibility to norovirus infection may be strain-specific rather than genogroup dependent. *The Journal of infectious diseases* 2008;198(6):940-1; author reply 2-3.
- 96. Jones EL, Kramer A, Gaither M, et al. Role of fomite contamination during an outbreak of norovirus on houseboats. *Int J Environ Health Res* 2007;17(2):123-31.
- 97. Wu HM, Fornek M, Schwab KJ, et al. A norovirus outbreak at a long-termcare facility: the role of environmental surface contamination. *Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol* 2005;26(10):802-10.
- 98. Evans MR, Meldrum R, Lane W, et al. An outbreak of viral gastroenteritis following environmental contamination at a concert hall. *Epidemiology and infection* 2002;129(2):355-60.
- 99. Isakbaeva ET, Widdowson MA, Beard RS, et al. Norovirus transmission on cruise ship. *Emerging infectious diseases* 2005;11(1):154-8.
- 100. Patterson W, Haswell P, Fryers PT, et al. Outbreak of small round structured virus gastroenteritis arose after kitchen assistant vomited. *Commun Dis Rep CDR Rev* 1997;7(7):R101-3.

- 101. Becker KM, Moe CL, Southwick KL, et al. Transmission of Norwalk virus during football game. *N Engl J Med* 2000;343(17):1223-7.
- Marks PJ, Vipond IB, Regan FM, et al. A school outbreak of Norwalk-like virus: evidence for airborne transmission. *Epidemiology and infection* 2003;131(1):727-36.
- 103. Teunis PF, Moe CL, Liu P, et al. Norwalk virus: how infectious is it? Journal of medical virology 2008;80(8):1468-76.
- 104. Hohne M, Schreier E. Detection and characterization of norovirus outbreaks in Germany: application of a one-tube RT-PCR using a fluorogenic real-time detection system. *Journal of medical virology* 2004;72(2):312-9.
- 105. Leon JS, Kingsley DH, Montes JS, et al. Randomized, double-blinded clinical trial for human norovirus inactivation in oysters by high hydrostatic pressure processing. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 2011;77(15):5476-82.
- 106. Murata T, Katsushima N, Mizuta K, et al. Prolonged norovirus shedding in infants <or=6 months of age with gastroenteritis. *Pediatr Infect Dis J* 2007;26(1):46-9.
- 107. Cheesbrough JS, Green J, Gallimore CI, et al. Widespread environmental contamination with Norwalk-like viruses (NLV) detected in a prolonged hotel outbreak of gastroenteritis. *Epidemiology and infection* 2000;125(1):93-8.
- 108. Seitz SR, Leon JS, Schwab KJ, et al. Norovirus infectivity in humans and persistence in water. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 2011;77(19):6884-8.

- 109. Skraber S, Ogorzaly L, Helmi K, et al. Occurrence and persistence of enteroviruses, noroviruses and F-specific RNA phages in natural wastewater biofilms. *Water Res* 2009;43(19):4780-9.
- Lamhoujeb S, Fliss I, Ngazoa SE, et al. Evaluation of the persistence of infectious human noroviruses on food surfaces by using real-time nucleic acid sequence-based amplification. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 2008;74(11):3349-55.
- 111. Doultree JC, Druce JD, Birch CJ, et al. Inactivation of feline calicivirus, a Norwalk virus surrogate. *J Hosp Infect* 1999;41(1):51-7.
- 112. Kennedy J, J. Bek, D. Griffin. Selection and Use of Disinfectants [electronic article]. *NebGuide*. Advance Access: Feb. 29, 2012.
- 113. Girard M, Ngazoa S, Mattison K, et al. Attachment of noroviruses to stainless steel and their inactivation, using household disinfectants. *J Food Prot* 2010;73(2):400-4.
- 114. Liu P, Yuen Y, Hsiao HM, et al. Effectiveness of liquid soap and hand sanitizer against Norwalk virus on contaminated hands. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 2010;76(2):394-9.
- 115. Sano D, Pinto RM, Omura T, et al. Detection of oxidative damages on viral capsid protein for evaluating structural integrity and infectivity of human norovirus. *Environmental science & technology* 2010;44(2):808-12.
- 116. Poschetto LF, Ike A, Papp T, et al. Comparison of the sensitivities of noroviruses and feline calicivirus to chemical disinfection under field-like conditions. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 2007;73(17):5494-500.

- 117. Hudson JB, Sharma M, Petric M. Inactivation of Norovirus by ozone gas in conditions relevant to healthcare. *J Hosp Infect* 2007;66(1):40-5.
- 118. Tuladhar E, Terpstra P, Koopmans M, et al. Virucidal efficacy of hydrogen peroxide vapour disinfection. *J Hosp Infect* 2012;80(2):110-5.
- Richards GP. Critical Review of Norovirus Surrogates in Food Safety Research: Rationale for considering Volunteer Studies. *Food Environ Virol* 2011.
- 120. Vashist S, Bailey D, Putics A, et al. Model systems for the study of human norovirus Biology. *Future Virol* 2009;4(4):353-67.
- 121. Baron RC, Greenberg HB, Cukor G, et al. Serological responses among teenagers after natural exposure to Norwalk virus. *The Journal of infectious diseases* 1984;150(4):531-4.
- 122. Farkas T, Thornton SA, Wilton N, et al. Homologous versus heterologous immune responses to Norwalk-like viruses among crew members after acute gastroenteritis outbreaks on 2 US Navy vessels. *The Journal of infectious diseases* 2003;187(2):187-93.
- Monroe SS, Stine SE, Jiang X, et al. Detection of antibody to recombinant Norwalk virus antigen in specimens from outbreaks of gastroenteritis. J Clin Microbiol 1993;31(11):2866-72.
- 124. Nurminen K, Blazevic V, Huhti L, et al. Prevalence of norovirus GII-4 antibodies in Finnish children. *Journal of medical virology* 2011;83(3):525-31.
- 125. Parker SP, Cubitt WD. Measurement of IgA responses following Norwalk virus infection and other human caliciviruses using a recombinant

Norwalk virus protein EIA. *Epidemiology and infection* 1994;113(1):143-51.

- 126. Rockx B, Baric RS, de Grijs I, et al. Characterization of the homo- and heterotypic immune responses after natural norovirus infection. *Journal of medical virology* 2005;77(3):439-46.
- 127. Long KZ, Garcia C, Ko G, et al. Vitamin A modifies the intestinal chemokine and cytokine responses to norovirus infection in Mexican children. *J Nutr* 2011;141(5):957-63.
- 128. Ko G, Jiang ZD, Okhuysen PC, et al. Fecal cytokines and markers of intestinal inflammation in international travelers with diarrhea due to Noroviruses. *Journal of medical virology* 2006;78(6):825-8.
- 129. Treanor JJ, Jiang X, Madore HP, et al. Subclass-specific serum antibody responses to recombinant Norwalk virus capsid antigen (rNV) in adults infected with Norwalk, Snow Mountain, or Hawaii virus. *Journal of clinical microbiology* 1993;31(6):1630-4.
- 130. Moe CL, Sair A, Lindesmith L, et al. Diagnosis of norwalk virus infection by indirect enzyme immunoassay detection of salivary antibodies to recombinant norwalk virus antigen. *Clinical and diagnostic laboratory immunology* 2004;11(6):1028-34.
- 131. Lindesmith L, Moe C, Marionneau S, et al. Human susceptibility and resistance to Norwalk virus infection. *Nature medicine* 2003;9(5):548-53.
- 132. Lindesmith LC, Donaldson E, Leon J, et al. Heterotypic humoral and cellular immune responses following Norwalk virus infection. *Journal of virology* 2010;84(4):1800-15.

- 133. Reeck A, Kavanagh O, Estes MK, et al. Serological correlate of protection against norovirus-induced gastroenteritis. *J Infect Dis* 2010;202(8):1212-8.
- 134. LoBue AD, Lindesmith L, Yount B, et al. Multivalent norovirus vaccines induce strong mucosal and systemic blocking antibodies against multiple strains. *Vaccine* 2006;24(24):5220-34.
- 135. Goveia MG, Ciarlet M, Owen KE, et al. Development, clinical evaluation, and post-licensure impact of RotaTeq, a pentavalent rotavirus vaccine. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* 2011;1222:14-8.
- 136. Atmar RL, Bernstein DI, Harro CD, et al. Norovirus vaccine against experimental human Norwalk Virus illness. N Engl J Med 2011;365(23):2178-87.
- 137. Tacket CO, Sztein MB, Losonsky GA, et al. Humoral, mucosal, and cellular immune responses to oral Norwalk virus-like particles in volunteers. *Clin Immunol* 2003;108(3):241-7.
- 138. Tacket CO, Mason HS, Losonsky G, et al. Human immune responses to a novel norwalk virus vaccine delivered in transgenic potatoes. *The Journal of infectious diseases* 2000;182(1):302-5.
- 139. Ma Y, Li J. Vesicular stomatitis virus as a vector to deliver virus-like particles of human norovirus: a new vaccine candidate against an important noncultivable virus. *Journal of virology* 2011;85(6):2942-52.
- 140. Xia M, Tan M, Wei C, et al. A candidate dual vaccine against influenza and noroviruses. *Vaccine* 2011;29(44):7670-7.

- 141. Feng X, Jiang X. Library screen for inhibitors targeting norovirus binding to histo-blood group antigen receptors. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 2007;51(1):324-31.
- Bok K, Cavanaugh VJ, Matson DO, et al. Inhibition of norovirus replication by morpholino oligomers targeting the 5'-end of the genome. *Virology* 2008;380(2):328-37.

Assay Optimization

Previous studies have published successful enzyme-linked immunosorbent assays (ELISAs) for detection and quantitation of anti-norovirus antibodies (1-5). A critical component of these assays is the antigen used to bind the antibodies. For this study, a new protocol was developed for production and purification of Norwalk virus-like particles (VLPs). The new antigen production protocol required optimization of both the serum IgG and salivary IgA ELISA protocols.

Serum IgG ELISA

The initial concern with the serum IgG protocol was the substitution of baculovirus-produced Norwalk VLPs for the previously optimized VLPs produced in Venezuelan Equine Encephalitis (VEE) virus replicons (1). Using the current laboratory protocol for serum antibody detection ELISAs, the reactivity of the baculovirus-produced VLPs was compared to the VEE-produced VLPs (Fig. 3). A human serum sample from a previous Norwalk virus challenge study that was known to have a high α -Norwalk IgG titer was used for assay optimization. With this serum sample, the baculovirus-produced VLPs had roughly half the reactivity of the VEE-produced VLPs. To address this lower reactivity, different concentrations of VLPs were used to coat the plate (Fig. 3). Doubling the VLP coating concentration dramatically increased the level of antibody detection and this higher concentration was chosen for future use.

The original lab protocol had high inter- and intra-assay variation, which made validation of the results and detection of differences difficult. In accordance with the recommendations in (6), all incubation steps, except the overnight blocking step, were changed to room temperature incubations with rotation. By adding motion to the incubation steps, the dependence on Brownian motion is reduced and slight differences in handling do not result in signal variation. In addition, both the sample and the secondary antibody were diluted in the blocking solution, as opposed to PBS as directed by the original lab protocol.

ELISA sensitivity and variation can be sensitive to the components of the blocking solution (6). For some antigen-antibody combinations, BLOTTO (i.e. non-fat milk) is best, while for others, bovine serum albumin (BSA) is best. Other blocking options are available, but BLOTTO and BSA are the most common. To further optimize the serum IgG ELISA, BLOTTO and BSA were compared as blocking agents (Fig. 4). Although BSA resulted in higher antibody measurements, the variation was similar to that with BLOTTO. Due to the significantly increased cost of BSA and lack of a significant assay improvement, BLOTTO was used in the final optimized protocol.

Heat inactivation of the serum sample was also tested, but it increased the variation in the assay and was not pursued.

To further standardize the protocol, all samples were tested at a single dilution in quadruplicate. If the signal was below the lowest standard (31.25 ng/ml), the assay was repeated with the sample diluted at 1:200. If the signal was still below that of the lowest standard, a value of one-half of the lowest standard was used for analysis.

After the assay optimization described above, the α -Norwalk serum IgG ELISA is highly reproducible, both intra- and inter-assay. The intra-assay

coefficient of variation is routinely around 5%. The inter-assay CV is a bit higher, around 10%, but still in the acceptable range for ELISAs. Limit of detection analysis was not performed for this assay, however, theoretical limits can be calculated from the IgG standard concentrations and the dilutions tested. From these calculations, the dynamic range of the assay for this study is $6.25 \,\mu\text{g/ml}$ to $800 \,\mu\text{g/ml}$.

Salivary IgA ELISA

Two previous studies reported ELISAs for α -Norwalk salivary IgA (3, 4). Using these studies, as well as the results of the serum IgG optimization, an initial protocol for salivary IgA was designed. This protocol included heat inactivation of the saliva (56°C, 60 min), BLOTTO blocking solution and antibody diluent, and incubation with rotation.

As with the serum IgG ELISA, the salivary IgA assay needed to be validated with the baculovirus-produced Norwalk VLPs. In addition, a new protocol for VLP purification had been developed, and the VLPs produced by this new method were also tested (Fig. 5). To make this comparison, several saliva samples were used. Two archived specimens, shown to have high salivary IgA titers in a previous study (4), were used as positive controls. In addition, saliva samples from a volunteer with a strong serum IgG conversion were also tested. As seen with the serum IgG ELISA, the baculovirus-produced VLPs were less reactive than the VEE-produced VLPs, however, the new purification procedure dramatically increased the reactivity of the baculovirus-produced VLPs. Prior studies used dilutions ranging from 1:4 to 1:16 for detecting salivary IgA (3, 4). To determine the optimal dilution for this assay, a two-fold dilution series, from 1:4 to 1:32, of the known positive saliva was tested. The reactivity was very low (data not shown), necessitating the use of the 1:4 dilution for the optimized assay. The same dilution testing was performed for the total IgA assay, using a dilution series from 1:200 to 1:1600. The dilution that resulted in a signal roughly at the midpoint of the standard curve (1:400) was selected.

For all salivary IgA assays, the saliva was heat-inactivated and clarified immediately prior to dilution. It is possible that this inactivation step affected the assay, either by reducing the overall reactivity or increasing the variation. However, the assay was not tested without this step.

Unlike the α -Norwalk serum IgG ELISA, the α -Norwalk salivary IgA ELISA is more variable. The inter- and intra-assay CVs are between 10 and 20%. One possible explanation for this is the heat-inactivation of the saliva for each assay. Additionally, protease activity was detected in the low saliva dilutions, which could interfere with the assay. The total salivary IgA ELISA is more consistent, with CVs around 10%. This is likely due to the much higher concentrations of total IgA, and, thus, higher saliva dilutions.

Limit of detection analysis was not performed for these assays, however, the theoretical limits can be calculated as for the α -Norwalk serum IgG. For the α -Norwalk salivary IgA ELISA, the theoretical range of detection is 125 ng/ml to 8,000 ng/ml. For the total IgA ELISA, the theoretical range of detection is 12.5 μ g/ml to 800 μ g/ml.



Figure 3. Comparison of baculovirus- and VEE-produced Norwalk VLPs. Plates were coated with 1 mg/ml VEE-produced VLPs (VEE), or 1 or 2 mg/ml baculovirus-produced VLPs (BV). A known high titer α -Norwalk serum sample was used to compare the reagents. Antibody concentrations were calculated by comparison to an IgG standard curve.



Figure 4. Evaluation of BLOTTO and BSA as blocking agents and heat inactivation of serum. Plates were coated in the indicated blocking solutions and the same blocking solution was used as diluent for the samples and the secondary antibody. The same serum sample was heat-inactivated (56°C, 30 min) and both serum samples were tested at a 1:400 dilution. Gray bars, no heat inactivation; black bars, with heat inactivation. BSA, 1% BSA; BLOTTO, 5% BLOTTO, both prepared in PBS-Tween.



Figure 5. Comparison of different VLPs in the salivary IgA ELISA. VLPs produced in the VEE replicon (VEE) were compared to the baculovirusproduced VLPs used for the serum IgG ELISAs (BV 1) and the same VLPs purified with an optimized protocol (BV 2). 13-6 and 45-6 are archived saliva samples previously shown to have high α -Norwalk IgA titers. 37-1 and 37-10 are the pre-challenge and day 35 saliva samples from a volunteer with a very strong serum IgG conversion.

Literature Cited

- Baric RS, Yount B, Lindesmith L, et al. Expression and self-assembly of norwalk virus capsid protein from venezuelan equine encephalitis virus replicons. *Journal of virology* 2002;76(6):3023-30.
- Lindesmith L, Moe C, Lependu J, et al. Cellular and humoral immunity following Snow Mountain virus challenge. *Journal of virology* 2005;79(5):2900-9.
- 3. Lindesmith L, Moe C, Marionneau S, et al. Human susceptibility and resistance to Norwalk virus infection. *Nature medicine* 2003;9(5):548-53.
- 4. Moe CL, Sair A, Lindesmith L, et al. Diagnosis of norwalk virus infection by indirect enzyme immunoassay detection of salivary antibodies to recombinant norwalk virus antigen. *Clinical and diagnostic laboratory immunology* 2004;11(6):1028-34.
- Monroe SS, Stine SE, Jiang X, et al. Detection of antibody to recombinant Norwalk virus antigen in specimens from outbreaks of gastroenteritis. J Clin Microbiol 1993;31(11):2866-72.
- Methods in Molecular Biology, The ELISA Guidebook. Humana Press;
 2009.

Immune Response

to

Experimental Norwalk Virus Infection

Abstract

In the US, it is estimated that 21 million people are infected with norovirus every year. For the vast majority of these individuals, the infection will cause a mild gastroenteritis lasting 1-2 days. However, more severe outcomes are possible. Despite this very high incidence, the immunological response to norovirus infection, and, more importantly, the markers of a protective response, are poorly characterized. In this study, the immune response of 16 infected and 35 challenged-but-uninfected volunteers was monitored after an experimental challenge with Norwalk virus (GI.1). The dynamics of the humoral response were assessed by measuring the α -Norwalk serum IgG concentration. Similarly, α -Norwalk salivary IgA was used as an indicator of the mucosal response. The humoral, but not the mucosal, response was found to be highly predictive of infection status, with all but one infected volunteers seroconverting. Conversely, whether a given infection was symptomatic was correlated with the general, but not specific mucosal response; volunteers with illness had a higher final total salivary IgA titer than did those without symptoms. The presence of symptoms was not correlated with an α -Norwalk serum IgG response. **Pre-existing** antibodies, either serum IgG or salivary IgA, were not correlated with infection. Finally, longer periods of viral shedding were correlated with stronger mucosal responses, as measured by total salivary IgA.

Introduction

According to the most recent estimates, norovirus is responsible for the vast majority (58%) of all foodborne illness in the United States (1). Including non-foodborne sources, the estimated incidence of norovirus infection is 21 million infections per year in the US alone. Although the typical course of norovirus disease is short and mild, environmental stability (2) and low infectious dose (3) make the virus highly contagious and, thus, responsible for large, costly outbreaks (4, 5).

In general, the immune response to norovirus is typical of the response to any viral infection. Infection induces a characteristic \geq 4-fold increase in serum IgG approximately 6 days after exposure (e.g. seroconversion) (6-13). This IgG seroconversion is often coupled with IgA and IgM seroconversions (6, 10, 11). Additionally, the few studies examining the cellular response to infection report that the response is predominantly Th1, as expected for a viral infection (14-17).

Some characteristics of the α -norovirus immune response remain unexpected and unexplained. Seroconversion, the major marker of an effective immune response, does not appear to be necessary to clear an infection; in rare cases, individuals may never seroconvert despite having a typical disease course (9, 15). The mucosal response is even less understood. In general, increases in salivary IgA and IgG are correlated with seroconversion, but the extent of the response varies greatly (9, 15). Neither the determinants nor the implications of the strength of the mucosal response are known. Perhaps the most intriguing aspect of the mucosal response is that reported by Lindesmith et al. (8). In volunteers challenged with Norwalk virus (GI.1), the dynamics of the norovirus-specific salivary IgA response were different in infected and uninfected volunteers. When productive infections were established, the temporal dynamics of salivary IgA mirrored those of serum IgG, with an increase around day 6 post-exposure. Conversely, in uninfected volunteers, salivary IgA increased immediately after exposure and returned to pre-challenge levels around day 6. These response profiles are highly suggestive of a protective effect of an early salivary IgA response, however, further studies with more volunteers are needed.

In this study, the humoral and mucosal immune response to experimental infection with Norwalk virus was assessed by determination of antibody concentrations in archived serum and saliva samples. In addition to the temporal dynamics of the immune response, characteristics of the response were examined for correlation with disease outcomes, such as infection status, symptoms and viral shedding.

Materials and Methods

Human Challenge Study. The serum and saliva samples utilized in this study were collected from a human challenge study described in (18). Briefly, 51 volunteers were challenged with Norwalk virus inoculum 8fIIb isolated from stool filtrates from previous challenge studies. The inoculum dose was delivered in oysters that had been injected with virus such that three oysters contained 1 x 10⁴ genome equivalent copies (GEC). The study was divided into three phases, grouped by the high-pressure hydrostatic (HPP) treatment of the oysters, plus a pilot study. Phase I received inoculated oysters that had been subjected to 400 MPa for 5 min at 25°C. Phase II received inoculated oysters that had been subjected to 600 MPa for 5 min at 6°C. Phase III received inoculated oysters that had been subjected to 400 MPa for 5 min at 6°C. Controls were distributed across the three phases and received inoculated, but untreated oysters, serving as positive controls for exposure. Samples from the pilot study to assess the infectivity of the inoculum without HPP treatment were also included in this analysis.

Volunteers were admitted to the Emory University Hospital Clinical Interaction Site (a member of the Clinical Interactions Network of the Atlanta Clinical and Translational Science Institute) for the first 5 days of the challenge, with day 1 being the challenge day. Blood and saliva samples were collected prechallenge and daily for the first 5 days, then at followup visits around days 8, 14, 21, 28, and 35. All stools were collected during the inpatient stay, and a stool sample was collected at each followup visit. Vomitus was collected when present. GCRC staff recorded vital signs 2-3 times daily during the inpatient stay and monitored the volunteers for symptoms of gastroenteritis.

Determination of Specific Antibody Levels. Direct enzyme-linked immunosorbent assays (ELISAs) were used to determine serological and salivary antibody titers to Norwalk virus. For serum IgG titers, medium binding polystyrene plates were coated with $2 \mu g/ml$ Norwalk virus-like particles (VLPs) produced in a baculovirus expression system. Unbound VLPs were removed by washing the plate 5 times in PBS-T (PBS + 0.025% Tween 20), and the plates were blocked overnight at 4°C with 5% Blotto in PBS-T. After 5 washes, the plates were incubated for 1 hr at room temperature with quadruplicate serum samples diluted 1:200 or 1:400 in blocking solution, after which unbound antibody was removed by washing. The secondary antibody (alkaline phosphatase-labeled rabbit α -human IgG, Sigma-Aldrich Co., St. Louis, MO) was diluted 1:2500 in blocking solution and incubated for 30 min at room temperature. After a final 5 washes in PBS-T, 100 µl of *p*-nitrophenyl phosphate solution (Sigma-Aldrich Co., St. Louis, MO) was added to each well and the plate was incubated at room temperature in the dark for 10-30 min. The optical density at 405 nm was determined using an ELx800 plate reader (BioTek Instruments, Inc. Winooski, VT).

The antibody concentration in each sample was determined by comparison to a standard curve generated with known concentrations of IgG (31.25 – 2000 ng/ml) and fitted with a 4-point parametric curve fitting procedure. Samples that were below the level of detection were assigned a value of one-half of the lowest detectable concentration.

The protocol for Norwalk-specific salivary IgA ELISAs was the same as that described above with the following exceptions. Prior to dilution, the saliva samples were heat inactivated at 56°C for 60 min, followed by centrifugation at 16,000 x g for 10 min to pellet mucins and other debris. The clarified samples were then diluted 1:4 in blocking solution and used as described above. The secondary antibody was alkaline phosphatase-labeled anti-human IgA (SigmaAldrich Co., St. Louis, MO), diluted 1:2500 in blocking solution. Finally, the standard curve was generated with known concentrations of IgA (31.25 – 2000 ng/ml).

To correct for changes in salivary flowrate, IgA levels are reported as the negative logarithm of the ratio of α -norovirus IgA to total IgA. To determine the total IgA concentration, the plates were coated with rabbit α -human IgA (Sigma-Aldrich Co., St. Louis, MO), and the clarified saliva samples were diluted 1:400 in blocking solution. Otherwise, the protocol was identical to that for norovirus-specific IgA.

Quantitation of Virus in Stool. Viral shedding in stool was measured by quantitative RT-PCR as previously reported (19). Briefly, total RNA was extracted from a 10% stool suspension (wt/vol in water) with an equal volume of Vertrel XF (DuPont, Wilmington, DE). After clarification by centrifugation, RNA was purified from the supernatant using the QiaAmp Viral RNA kit (Qiagen, Valencia, CA). Norwalk RNA was detected by quantitative real-time reverse transcription PCR (qRT-PCR) using the Qiagen One-step RT-PCR kit (Qiagen, Valencia, CA). Norwalk-specific primers (NVKS1 and NVKS2) and probe (NVKS3) were used as previously described (19). RNA copy number was determined by comparison to a RNA standard curve.

Data Analysis. Because the sample collection did not always occur on the same days relative to the baseline, the data was grouped into the following sample groups based on days post challenge: 1, pre-challenge (and challenge day); 2, day 2; 3, day 3; 4, day 4; 5, day 5; 6, days 6-9; 7, days 13-16; 8, days 21-26; 9, days 27-30; and 10, days 35-41. All data types were grouped according to this scheme. If

more than one sample was collected in a given timeframe (stool, for example), the average of the values was used.

Additional variables were created to facilitate the data analysis. "IgG conversion" is a dichotomous variable indicating a 4-fold or greater increase in α norovirus serum IgG in the 10th sample relative to the serum α -norovirus IgG in the pre-challenge sample. "Fold increase in IgG" is a numerical variable calculated by dividing the serum α -norovirus IgG concentration at the 10th sample by the pre-challenge serum α -norovirus IgG concentration, e.g. the magnitude of the seroresponse. "HPP treatment" is a dichotomous variable that indicates high pressure processing of the inoculated oysters, i.e. an indicator of inclusion in the control group. "Duration of shedding" is calculated by subtracting the date of the first positive stool from the date of the last positive stool.

All analysis was performed using SAS version 9.3 (SAS Institute, Inc., Cary, NC). For all analyses, the α value for significance was 0.05.

Results

A previous human challenge study examined the effect of high pressure processing (HPP) treatment on the infectivity of norovirus-contaminated oysters (18). This study resulted in 16 infected volunteers and 35 uninfected volunteers, and these individuals provided the serum and saliva samples used in the current study. The relevant demographics of the study population are presented in Table 1. Sex, race, and age are similar for the infected and uninfected groups and are not correlated with infection status in either the full study or the control group. Infection was more common in blood types A and O, consistent with previous studies with Norwalk virus (8). However, blood type was not correlated with infection status (Table 2), likely due to the small number of volunteers and the effect of HPP processing on overall infection frequencies. Because previous studies showed that Norwalk infection is dependent upon secretor status (8), study volunteers were screened for secretor status, and only Se+ individuals were enrolled.

Figure 1 presents the temporal dynamics of the humoral IgG response to Norwalk virus infection. As expected, infected individuals exhibited a characteristic seroconversion (\geq 4-fold increase in titer) around day 7 after challenge. Although all infected individuals seroconverted, the extent and timing of the conversion varied considerably. Among infected volunteers, the minimum fold increase over baseline was 4.5 and the maximum was 21.1. Of those volunteers who seroconverted, all but two had converted by day 14 postchallenge. Of the remaining two volunteers, one converted by day 21 postchallenge and the other converted by day 28 post-challenge. Not surprisingly, bivariate analysis revealed that seroconversion was strongly correlated with infection (Table 3). The distribution of IgG concentrations are shown in Table 2.

The temporal dynamics of the salivary IgA response are less clear. To correct for changes in salivary flow rate, the ratio of Norwalk-specific IgA to total IgA was calculated. For ease of interpretation, this ratio is presented as a negative logarithm (Fig. 2). Unlike the serum IgG titers, salivary IgA did not display the characteristic increase around day 7 post-challenge, however, there was a detectable response by day 14 which continued until the end of the study. Although there was clearly a trend toward higher specific responses in infected individuals, the final IgA measures (i.e. specific titer, total titer, and ratio of specific to total) were not significantly different between infected and uninfected individuals (Tables 2 and 3 and Fig. 2).

Bivariate analysis did not find a correlation between infection status and any of the pre-challenge antibody measurements (Table 3). Pre-challenge IgG titers were considered for both the full study (N=51) and the control group (N=22), to account for the possible confounding effect of the HPP treatment. Additionally, the pre-challenge IgG titer was not correlated with age, initial Norwalk-specific salivary IgA, nor the fold increase in IgG in infected volunteers (data not shown). Infection status was, however, strongly correlated with final (day 35) IgG titer and the related measure of seroconversion.

Similar results were obtained when the occurrence of symptomatic infection was considered. Symptomatic infection was defined as the presence of any two or more of the following, regardless of severity: diarrhea, vomiting, nausea, abdominal cramping, fever, myalgia, headache, chills, or fatigue. The frequency of asymptomatic infection among infected volunteers was not correlated with any of the initial antibody measures nor with final IgG titer (Table 4). Interestingly, symptomatic infection was correlated with the final total IgA titer, but not with the final Norwalk-specific IgA titer or the ratio of Norwalkspecific IgA to total IgA.

Finally, the duration of viral shedding was examined in relation to the antibody results. Although the duration of viral shedding varied considerably among volunteers (mean, 19.3 days; minimum, 4; maximum, 34), it was not correlated with the magnitude of the seroconversion, which also varied considerably (Table 5). As seen with symptomatic infection, the final total, but not specific, salivary IgA titer was correlated with the duration of shedding, with longer shedding periods associated with higher final total IgA titers.

Discussion

Despite many outbreak and challenge studies, the immune response to human norovirus infection remains poorly understood. By examining the immune response of volunteers challenged with norovirus, both the temporal dynamics of the immune response and the extent of the response can be assessed. In the current study, the temporal dynamics of both the humoral IgG response and the salivary IgA response to norovirus were monitored. These responses could then be examined with respect to infection status, illness, and viral shedding.

The humoral response to Norwalk virus infection was consistent with the general IgG response to infection and that previously reported for norovirus (20), with seroconversion occurring around 7 days after the exposure and remaining high for the duration of followup (Fig. 1). The mucosal response was less consistent. Although the average salivary IgA level in infected individuals was higher than that in uninfected individuals 14 days after exposure (Fig. 2), this trend was not evident in the samples for any given individual. Unlike serum IgG, where paired samples would show a strong increase in infected individuals, for most of the volunteers, salivary IgA did not show a strong increase, rarely more

than 2-fold, which is within the normal variation for the ELISA. Further complicating the issue, increases in salivary IgA were not maintained, and the values for any volunteer fluctuated considerably over time.

The lack of correlation between the mucosal IgA response and infection is in contrast to previous reports (8, 9). There are several possible explanations for this discrepancy. There were some variations in the salivary IgA assay, including the conditions of heat inactivation, the sample storage conditions, the production method for the virus-like particles used as antigen, and the saliva dilutions tested. In addition, protease activity was detected in some of the saliva samples, which could have interfered with the ELISA. There was also variation in the exposure conditions for each study. Here, a known titer of Norwalk virus was delivered in HPP-treated oysters. In the other studies, Norwalk virus was delivered as a liquid inoculum (8, 9).

In general, prior immunity reduces host susceptibility to infection, and this concept is exploited to develop vaccines that prevent infection. However, studies of norovirus immunity have yielded conflicting results on this issue (21). In outbreak and challenge studies of Norwalk virus (6, 10, 12, 22) and Snow Mountain virus (12, 15), infection was not correlated with prior immunity. Similarly, the results of a recent clinical trial of a norovirus vaccine indicated that the total α -norovirus IgG response elicited by the vaccine was not predictive of infection, but a subset of the α -norovirus IgG, specifically that able to block carbohydrate binding, was predictive and protective (23, 24). In this study, initial humoral and mucosal immunity were not correlated with either infection status or symptoms. This lack of correlation was not due to homogeneity of these measures; both serum IgG and salivary IgA (total and Norwalk-specific) varied over a fairly wide range of values (data not shown).

It is reasonable to hypothesize that individuals with a higher pre-challenge antibody level, either humoral or mucosal, would have a stronger response to infection, reflecting either a memory response or a generally stronger immune system. However, this was not supported by the data. Pre-challenge antibody levels were not correlated with the magnitude of the humoral response. Also, pre-challenge IgG levels were not correlated with age, as might be expected if prior exposures were responsible for the higher pre-challenge values. The prechallenge serum IgG level was not correlated with the pre-challenge IgA levels, suggesting that the humoral and mucosal responses are independent of each other. This independence is also reflected in the lack of association between the humoral response and illness and duration of shedding, both of which are associated with the mucosal response, as measured by total salivary IgA (Tables 4 and 5).

The fact that symptomatic infection and duration of shedding are only associated with total IgA and not other immunological measures is unexpected but not unreasonable. IgA is the predominant immunoglobulin of the mucosal response (25). Norovirus replication occurs in the gut epithelium, where a mucosal response is more effective than a humoral response. However, it is unusual that the norovirus-specific response is not correlated with duration or symptomatic infection. It could be that the total IgA response is correlated with another component of the mucosal immune response, and it is this second component that is important during norovirus infection. Alternatively, the lack of correlation could be due to sensitivity issues in the VLP-based salivary IgA ELISA. It is not known to what extent the VLPs differ from intact virions, but it is conceivable that such differences could cause changes in antibody binding.

The main limitation of this study, like all human challenge studies, is sample size. Detecting trends in highly variable measures, such as viral shedding and salivary IgA is difficult, if not impossible, in studies of this size. One must also consider the primary goal of the initial challenge study was to evaluate the efficacy of high pressure processing of oysters on norovirus infectivity. Thus, it is possible that the HPP-treated inocula produced immunologically unique infections and that uninfected-but-exposed individuals mounted some response to the virus. Finally, only Norwalk virus was used as an inoculum for this study, so the results may not be applicable to other norovirus strains.
Tables

	Uninfected	Infected	Total
	N=35	N=16	N=51
Mean Age (years) ^a	26.2 (18, 48)	25.7 (19, 51)	26.5 (18, 51)
% Male	29.4	13.7	43.1
Race ^b			
Asian	4 (7.8)	1 (2.0)	5 (9.8)
African American	15 (29.4)	6 (11.8)	21 (41.2)
Caucasian	13 (25.5)	7 (13.7)	20 (39.2)
Hispanic ^c	2 (3.9)	0 (0.0)	2 (3.9)
Multi-racial	0 (0.0)	1 (2.0)	1 (2.0)
Other	1 (2.0)	1 (2.0)	2 (3.9)
ABO Blood Type ^b			
Missing	3 (5.9)	4 (7.8)	7 (13.7)
Α	10 (19.6)	3 (5.9)	13 (25.5)
В	4 (7.8)	0 (0.0)	4 (7.8)
AB	1 (2.0)	0 (0.0)	1 (2.0)
0	17 (33.3)	9 (17.7)	26 (51.0)
Secretor + ^b	35 (68.6)	16 (31.4)	51 (100.0)

Table 1. Characteristics of Volunteers by Infection Status.

^a Number in parentheses is the range.
^b Number of volunteers in each category. Number in parentheses is percent of the total study group in each category.

^cNon-Caucasian Hispanic

Antibody					SamJ	Sample Day				
Measure ^a	1	5	3	4	5	7	14	21	28	35
α-Norwalk IgG	gG									
Infected	38.4 (27.8)	37.6 (28.0)	34.9 (30.9)	36.0 (26.1)	30.3 (21.6)	80.7 (57.1)	269.5 (169.7)	305.8 (180.1)	323.3 (185.2)	338.3 (215.5)
Uninfecte d	39.0 (34.8)	ND	ND	ND	ND	40.0 (33.0)	ND	ND	ND	42.5 (33.3)
α-Norwalk IgA ^b	gA^{b}									
Infected	0.35 (0.25)	0.51 (0.50)	0.29 (0.22)	0.25 (0.18)	0.45 (0.29)	0.33 (0.28)	0.37 (0.35)	0.50 (0.36)	0.40 (0.25)	0.39 (0.31)
Uninfecte d	0.37 (0.28)	0.45 (0.42)	0.34 (0.29)	0.39 (0.38)	0.28 (0.15)	0.33 (0.20)	0.41 (0.31)	0.42 (0.32)	0.37 (0.20)	0.31 (0.18)
Total IgA ^b										
Infected	52.4 (35.7)	93.3 (74.4)	87.8 (82.0)	67.2 (61.9)	91.7 (57.4)	56.8 (36.9)	64.7 (27.2)	74.4 (46.7)	71.7 (37.0)	69.2 (41.7)
Uninfecte d	54.4 (48.9)	44.5 (32.1)	42.8 (43.4)	57.9 (26.5)	53.8 (40.2)	63.7 (35.6)	37.2 (17.0)	47.7 (19.7)	38.3 (26.9)	41.2 (29.9)

Table 2. Distribution of Antibody Concentrations By Infection Status Over Time.

 a In µg/ml. Value is the mean. Number in parentheses is the standard deviation.

^b Control group only (N=22)

Variable 1	Variable 2	Test Statistic	
		R-squared	P value
Infection status	Pre-challenge IgG titer	0.000083	0.95
	Pre-challenge IgG (controls only)	0.017752	0.58
	Pre-challenge NV-specific IgA ^a	0.008591	0.71
	Pre-challenge total IgAª	0.000670	0.92
	Final IgG titer	0.561861	<0.0001
	Final NV-specific IgA ^a	0.024457	0.56
	Final total IgA ^a	0.132666	0.15
		Chi-square	P value
Infection status	ABO blood group ^b	4.99	0.29
	ABO blood group ^a	1.20	0.75
	Seroconversion	36.56	<0.0001

Table 3. Bivariate Analysis for Correlates of Infection

^a Control group only (N=22) ^b Full study (N=51)

Variable 1	Variable 2	R-squared	P value
Symptoms	Pre-challenge IgG titer	0.044428	0.43
	Final IgG titer	0.224416	0.07
	Pre-challenge NV-specific IgA ^b	0.013083	0.75
	Pre-challenge total IgA ^b	0.198694	0.20
	Final specific IgA ^b	0.217716	0.21
	Final total IgA ^b	0.499697	0.02

Table 4. Bivariate Analysis for Correlates of Symptomatic Infection^a

^a Among infected volunteers only (N=16) ^b Control group only (N=11)

Table 5. Bivariate Analysis for Correlates of Duration of Viral Shedding^a

Variable 1	Variable 2	Pearson's r	P value
Duration of shedding	Magnitude of seroconversion	0.05779	0.84
	Final NV-specific IgA ^b	0.23584	0.54
	Final total IgA ^b	0.64967	0.04

^a Among infected volunteers only (N=16) ^b Control group only (N=11)



Figure 6. Temporal dynamics of serum IgG response to Norwalk virus infection. Serum IgG titers of Norwalk-specific IgG were determined by ELISA. The fold increase in titer was calculated by dividing each sample value by the prechallenge value for that volunteer. The mean fold increase for infected and uninfected volunteers is plotted. Infection status was determined by the presence of Norwalk RNA in one or more stool samples. Circles, uninfected (N=35); squares, infected (N=16). Error bars represent the standard error.



Figure 7. Infection with Norwalk virus did not induce a virus-specific salivary IgA response. Salivary Norwalk-specific and total IgA titers were determined by ELISA. To correct for changes in salivary flow, the negative logarithm of the ratio of Norwalk-specific IgA to total IgA is presented. The mean of this value for infected and uninfected volunteers in the control group is presented. Infection status was determined by the presence of Norwalk RNA in one or more stool samples. Circles, uninfected (N=11); squares, infected (N=11). Error bars represent the standard error.

Literature Cited

- 1. Scallan E, Hoekstra RM, Angulo FJ, et al. Foodborne illness acquired in the United States--major pathogens. *Emerg Infect Dis* 2011;17(1):7-15.
- Otter JA, Yezli S, French GL. The role played by contaminated surfaces in the transmission of nosocomial pathogens. *Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol* 2011;32(7):687-99.
- 3. Teunis PF, Moe CL, Liu P, et al. Norwalk virus: how infectious is it? *Journal of medical virology* 2008;80(8):1468-76.
- 4. Danial J, Cepeda JA, Cameron F, et al. Epidemiology and costs associated with norovirus outbreaks in NHS Lothian, Scotland 2007-2009. *J Hosp Infect* 2011;79(4):354-8.
- Lopman BA, Reacher MH, Vipond IB, et al. Epidemiology and cost of nosocomial gastroenteritis, Avon, England, 2002-2003. *Emerging infectious diseases* 2004;10(10):1827-34.
- 6. Baron RC, Greenberg HB, Cukor G, et al. Serological responses among teenagers after natural exposure to Norwalk virus. *The Journal of infectious diseases* 1984;150(4):531-4.
- 7. Farkas T, Thornton SA, Wilton N, et al. Homologous versus heterologous immune responses to Norwalk-like viruses among crew members after acute gastroenteritis outbreaks on 2 US Navy vessels. *The Journal of infectious diseases* 2003;187(2):187-93.
- 8. Lindesmith L, Moe C, Marionneau S, et al. Human susceptibility and resistance to Norwalk virus infection. *Nature medicine* 2003;9(5):548-53.

- 9. Moe CL, Sair A, Lindesmith L, et al. Diagnosis of norwalk virus infection by indirect enzyme immunoassay detection of salivary antibodies to recombinant norwalk virus antigen. *Clinical and diagnostic laboratory immunology* 2004;11(6):1028-34.
- Monroe SS, Stine SE, Jiang X, et al. Detection of antibody to recombinant Norwalk virus antigen in specimens from outbreaks of gastroenteritis. J Clin Microbiol 1993;31(11):2866-72.
- 11. Nurminen K, Blazevic V, Huhti L, et al. Prevalence of norovirus GII-4 antibodies in Finnish children. *J Med Virol* 2011;83(3):525-31.
- Parker SP, Cubitt WD. Measurement of IgA responses following Norwalk virus infection and other human caliciviruses using a recombinant Norwalk virus protein EIA. *Epidemiology and infection* 1994;113(1):143-51.
- 13. Treanor JJ, Jiang X, Madore HP, et al. Subclass-specific serum antibody responses to recombinant Norwalk virus capsid antigen (rNV) in adults infected with Norwalk, Snow Mountain, or Hawaii virus. *Journal of clinical microbiology* 1993;31(6):1630-4.
- 14. Ko G, Jiang ZD, Okhuysen PC, et al. Fecal cytokines and markers of intestinal inflammation in international travelers with diarrhea due to Noroviruses. *Journal of medical virology* 2006;78(6):825-8.
- 15. Lindesmith L, Moe C, Lependu J, et al. Cellular and humoral immunity following Snow Mountain virus challenge. *Journal of virology* 2005;79(5):2900-9.

- 16. Lindesmith LC, Donaldson E, Leon J, et al. Heterotypic humoral and cellular immune responses following Norwalk virus infection. *Journal of virology* 2010;84(4):1800-15.
- 17. Long KZ, Garcia C, Ko G, et al. Vitamin A modifies the intestinal chemokine and cytokine responses to norovirus infection in Mexican children. *J Nutr* 2011;141(5):957-63.
- Leon JS, Kingsley DH, Montes JS, et al. Randomized, double-blinded clinical trial for human norovirus inactivation in oysters by high hydrostatic pressure processing. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 2011;77(15):5476-82.
- 19. Liu P, Hsiao HM, Jaykus LA, et al. Quantification of Norwalk virus inocula: Comparison of endpoint titration and real-time reverse transcription-PCR methods. *Journal of medical virology* 2010;82(9):1612-6.
- 20. Gary GW, Anderson LJ, Keswick BH, et al. Norwalk virus antigen and antibody response in an adult volunteer study. *Journal of clinical microbiology* 1987;25(10):2001-3.
- 21. Matsui SM, Greenberg HB. Immunity to calicivirus infection. *The Journal of infectious diseases* 2000;181 Suppl 2:S331-5.
- 22. Graham DY, Jiang X, Tanaka T, et al. Norwalk virus infection of volunteers: new insights based on improved assays. *The Journal of infectious diseases* 1994;170(1):34-43.

- 23. Atmar RL, Bernstein DI, Harro CD, et al. Norovirus vaccine against experimental human Norwalk Virus illness. *N Engl J Med* 2011;365(23):2178-87.
- 24. Reeck A, Kavanagh O, Estes MK, et al. Serological correlate of protection against norovirus-induced gastroenteritis. *J Infect Dis* 2010;202(8):1212-8.
- 25. Janeway C. *Immunobiology : the immune system in health and disease.*6th ed. New York: Garland Science; 2005.

Public Health Implications

and

Future Directions

Public Health Implications

Understanding the immune response to norovirus is critical to the reducing the incidence and morbidity associated with this infection. Current estimates place the annual incidence of norovirus infection in the US at 21 million infections per year (1) or approximately 6,500 cases per 100,000 persons per year (2). Although the infection is generally mild, serious complications and even death can occur (3-6). Without an effective virus-specific treatment, intervention is dependent upon reducing the contagiousness of infected individuals (and by extension, their environment) and increasing the resistance of uninfected individuals. Knowledge of the immune response and its characteristics can inform both of these efforts through improved diagnostics, vaccines and, potentially, treatments which could reduce viral shedding. It will also allow validation of animal models that could be used to further development of these tools.

Currently, laboratory diagnosis of norovirus infection is by detection of the virus in stool, however, the diagnosis can also be made by serology. Although IgG seroconversion is very specific for an active infection, it is not used often. This is likely due to the greater technical difficulty of the assay and the relative difficulty of obtaining paired serum samples. There is some indication from this study and others (7, 8) that the salivary immune response may also be predictive of infection status. If this is the case, saliva samples could be used for diagnosis. The ease of collecting saliva samples, both on the part of the clinician and the patient, would be a great advantage. For epidemiological and clinical surveys, it

would allow greater sampling and compliance. For routine diagnostics and outbreak investigations, it would enable sample collection to be performed by untrained individuals, allowing the trained staff to better utilize their time.

The development of an effective norovirus vaccine will require a thorough understanding of the immune response to infection. In particular, the characteristics of a protective immune response must be defined so that they can be replicated by vaccination. The role of pre-existing antibodies in preventing infection is still unclear (9-12). However, some protection is conferred by infection (13-15), so there must be a component(s) of the immune response that is protective. Because norovirus is an infection of the mucosa, it is reasonable to expect that a protective response will include the mucosal immune system.

Long durations of high titer viral shedding are largely responsible for the highly contagious nature of norovirus, which, in concert with its environmental stability, makes halting outbreaks difficult. Any intervention that could decrease the duration or magnitude of viral shedding would be of great utility. In untreated infections, the virus is generally cleared within a month, as seen in this study and others (16-18). However, in immunocompromised individuals, the duration of viral shedding is much longer (19), indicating a role for the immune system in viral clearance. By understanding the characteristics of the immune response that are correlated with less viral shedding, it may be possible to design therapies that will modify the immune response and reduce viral shedding.

Although it is possible to develop diagnostics and therapeutics without an animal model of infection, it is more difficult. Human challenge studies are limited by cost, sample size, and ethical considerations. These limitations also apply to animal models, but to a lesser extent. Thus, animal models are more amenable to the early, riskier stages of development. Animal models are also advantageous because prior exposure to the virus is known, where that cannot be conclusively determined for human challenge subjects. The biggest limitation of animal models is comparability to the human disease. To overcome this limitation, the animal model must be validated by comparison to the human disease course. To properly validate disease models like the chimpanzee model (20, 21), the factors determining the human immune response must be defined using studies such as this one.

Future directions

Moving forward, the priority for this work is to resolve the discrepancy between the findings in this study and those by Lindesmith et al. (7) regarding the salivary IgA response to infection. There are differences in the assay conditions - for example, storage conditions, tested dilutions, heat inactivation protocols – that can be explored using the archived specimens. Additionally, strong protease activity was detected in some of the saliva samples, and this activity was negatively correlated with detected α -norovirus antibody levels. Thus, it is possible that this enzymatic activity skewed the results of the assay. This hypothesis could be tested by further dilution of the saliva samples to reduce the protease activity was not detected in the saliva dilutions used for measuring total IgA, which were diluted 1:400 versus 1:4 for the specific antibody assay. To better understand the genesis of the immune response, the serological IgA profile should also be measured. In this study, the predominant immunoglobulin class in each compartment (i.e. IgG in serum and IgA in saliva) was assessed. From these results, it appears that the humoral and mucosal responses are independent of each other, however, it is difficult to assess if the difference is due to the compartment (i.e. humoral vs. mucosal) or the immunoglobulin (i.e. IgG vs. IgA). Measuring the IgA in serum would allow a more direct and easily interpretable comparison between the humoral and mucosal responses. Salivary IgG could also be measured, however, this assay is more challenging due to the low concentration of IgG in the saliva.

To fully understand the immune response to norovirus infection, this type of study must be expanded to other strains of the virus, particularly GII.4 viruses, which are responsible for most infections (22). In addition to confirming the general characteristics of a norovirus-specific response, these studies will identify any strain-specific responses to infection. This data will be important for developing vaccines and assessing their efficacy.

Once the immune response to challenge with different strains of norovirus is better understood, it will be important to examine the characteristics of crossreactive immune responses. For example, is the response to Norwalk virus different if the individual has previously been infected with a GII.4 virus? Since most people will be exposed to norovirus very early in life (23-25), the effect of previous exposures will need to be taken into account when developing immunebased therapies. Also, the components of a cross-reactive immune response that are protective need to be identified and characterized for future vaccine studies. By exploiting effective cross-reactive responses, the number of strains in a vaccine can be reduced while still maximizing the utility of the vaccine.

Literature Cited

- 1. Scallan E, Hoekstra RM, Angulo FJ, et al. Foodborne illness acquired in the United States--major pathogens. *Emerg Infect Dis* 2011;17(1):7-15.
- 2. Hall AJ, Rosenthal M, Gregoricus N, et al. Incidence of acute gastroenteritis and role of norovirus, Georgia, USA, 2004-2005. *Emerging infectious diseases* 2011;17(8):1381-8.
- 3. Capizzi T, Makari-Judson G, Steingart R, et al. Chronic diarrhea associated with persistent norovirus excretion in patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia: report of two cases. *BMC Infect Dis* 2011;11:131.
- 4. Heymann DL, American Public Health Association. *Control of communicable diseases manual.* 19th ed. Washington, DC: American Public Health Association; 2008.
- 5. Saif MA, Bonney DK, Bigger B, et al. Chronic norovirus infection in pediatric hematopoietic stem cell transplant recipients: a cause of prolonged intestinal failure requiring intensive nutritional support. *Pediatr Transplant* 2011;15(5):505-9.
- 6. Stuart RL, Tan K, Mahar JE, et al. An outbreak of necrotizing enterocolitis associated with norovirus genotype GII.3. *Pediatr Infect Dis J* 2010;29(7):644-7.
- 7. Lindesmith L, Moe C, Marionneau S, et al. Human susceptibility and resistance to Norwalk virus infection. *Nature medicine* 2003;9(5):548-53.
- 8. Moe CL, Sair A, Lindesmith L, et al. Diagnosis of norwalk virus infection by indirect enzyme immunoassay detection of salivary antibodies to

recombinant norwalk virus antigen. *Clinical and diagnostic laboratory immunology* 2004;11(6):1028-34.

- Monroe SS, Stine SE, Jiang X, et al. Detection of antibody to recombinant Norwalk virus antigen in specimens from outbreaks of gastroenteritis. J Clin Microbiol 1993;31(11):2866-72.
- Parker SP, Cubitt WD. Measurement of IgA responses following Norwalk virus infection and other human caliciviruses using a recombinant Norwalk virus protein EIA. *Epidemiology and infection* 1994;113(1):143-51.
- Reeck A, Kavanagh O, Estes MK, et al. Serological correlate of protection against norovirus-induced gastroenteritis. *J Infect Dis* 2010;202(8):1212-8.
- 12. Graham DY, Jiang X, Tanaka T, et al. Norwalk virus infection of volunteers: new insights based on improved assays. *The Journal of infectious diseases* 1994;170(1):34-43.
- 13. Dolin R, Blacklow NR, DuPont H, et al. Transmission of acute infectious nonbacterial gastroenteritis to volunteers by oral administration of stool filtrates. *The Journal of infectious diseases* 1971;123(3):307-12.
- Dolin R, Blacklow NR, DuPont H, et al. Biological properties of Norwalk agent of acute infectious nonbacterial gastroenteritis. *Proc Soc Exp Biol Med* 1972;140(2):578-83.
- 15. Wyatt RG, Dolin R, Blacklow NR, et al. Comparison of three agents of acute infectious nonbacterial gastroenteritis by cross-challenge in volunteers. *The Journal of infectious diseases* 1974;129(6):709-14.

- Leon JS, Kingsley DH, Montes JS, et al. Randomized, double-blinded clinical trial for human norovirus inactivation in oysters by high hydrostatic pressure processing. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 2011;77(15):5476-82.
- Murata T, Katsushima N, Mizuta K, et al. Prolonged norovirus shedding in infants <or=6 months of age with gastroenteritis. *Pediatr Infect Dis J* 2007;26(1):46-9.
- 18. Sukhrie FH, Siebenga JJ, Beersma MF, et al. Chronic shedders as reservoir for nosocomial transmission of norovirus. *Journal of clinical microbiology* 2010;48(11):4303-5.
- 19. Vega E, Barclay L, Gregoricus N, et al. Novel surveillance network for norovirus gastroenteritis outbreaks, United States. *Emerging infectious diseases* 2011;17(8):1389-95.
- 20. Bok K, Parra GI, Mitra T, et al. Chimpanzees as an animal model for human norovirus infection and vaccine development. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 2011;108(1):325-30.
- 21. Rockx BH, Bogers WM, Heeney JL, et al. Experimental norovirus infections in non-human primates. *Journal of medical virology* 2005;75(2):313-20.
- 22. Updated norovirus outbreak management and disease prevention guidelines. *MMWR Recomm Rep* 2011;60(RR-3):1-18.
- Jing Y, Qian Y, Huo Y, et al. Seroprevalence against Norwalk-like human caliciviruses in beijing, China. *Journal of medical virology* 2000;60(1):97-101.

- 24. Smit TK, Bos P, Peenze I, et al. Seroepidemiological study of genogroup I and II calicivirus infections in South and southern Africa. *Journal of medical virology* 1999;59(2):227-31.
- 25. Talal AH, Moe CL, Lima AA, et al. Seroprevalence and seroincidence of Norwalk-like virus infection among Brazilian infants and children. *Journal of medical virology* 2000;61(1):117-24.